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CREATING VALUE

Financial Highlights
(Tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
YEARS ENDED MARCH 31
Revenue
Automation Systems Group
Photowatt Technologies
Intergroup
Total Revenue

2009

2008

$ 588,483
269,755
(3,118)
$ 855,120

$ 464,978
198,617
(326)
$ 663,269

$ 465,964
150,593
(2,019)
$ 614,538

Earnings (loss) from operations (1)
Automation Systems Group
Photowatt Technologies
Intergroup (3)
Total earnings (loss) from operations

$ 58,745
24,522
(17,211)
$ 66,056

$

$

$

903
3,159
4,851
8,913

$

6,357
(30,477)
(15,213)
(39,333)

Net income (loss)

$ 48,024

$

(23,423)

$

(85,015)

Earnings (loss) per share, Basic
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

$

$

0.17
(0.50)
(0.33)

$

(1.28)
(0.14)
(1.42)

$
Other Items
Cash and short-term investments
Total assets
Shareholders' equity
Debt to equity ratio
Automation Systems Group Order Backlog (1)
Automation Systems Group Order Bookings (1)

0.73
(0.12)
0.61

$ 154,253
$ 836,063
$ 568,447
0.1:1
$ 255,000
$ 585,000

$

$ 56,785
$ 678,015
$ 449,190
0.1:1
$ 232,000
$ 531,000

2007 (2)

$

$ 25,568
$ 601,065
$ 361,379
0.2:1
$ 185,000
$ 442,000

(1) A non-GAAP measure (see Management's Discussion and Analysis).
(2) Certain amounts for fiscal 2007 have been restated to reflect changes in accounting policies, discontinued operations and reclassifications.
(3) Amount for fiscal 2008 includes gain on sale of investment in Canadian Solar Inc. of $31.8 million.
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ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. provides innovative, custom designed, built and
installed manufacturing solutions to many of the world's most successful companies.
Founded in 1978, ATS uses its industry-leading knowledge and global capabilities to serve
the sophisticated automation systems' needs of multinational customers in industries such
as healthcare, computer/electronics, energy, automotive and consumer products. It also
leverages its many years of experience and skills to fulfill the specialized automation product
manufacturing requirements of customers. Through Photowatt Technologies, ATS participates
in the growing solar energy industry as an integrated manufacturer of ingots, wafers, cells and
modules. Photowatt-branded products and systems serve businesses, institutions and
homeowners in established and emerging markets. ATS employs approximately 2,600 people
at 17 manufacturing facilities in Canada, the United States, Europe, Southeast Asia and
China. The Company's shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol
ATA. Visit the Company's website at www.atsautomation.com.

Revenue
$ Millions
855.1

Earnings (loss)
from operations

Net income
(loss)

Earnings (loss)
per share

Cash net
of debt

$ Millions

$ Millions

$

$ Millions

663.3

662.7

118.4

627.5 614.5

66.1
48.0

0.61

40.7
28.0
8.5

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

(13.8) (51.1)

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

(1.17) (1.42) (0.33)

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

2009

(69.3) (85.0) (23.4)

2008

2007

2006

2005

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

(97.7) (39.3)
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Automation
Systems Group
In Profile
Through Automation Systems Group, ATS is an automation
industry leader. Over the past 30 years, ATS has delivered
more than 10,000 automation projects to some of the
world’s foremost manufacturers.

Competitive Strengths
Global Presence: Based on scale and locations, ATS is
one of the largest providers of automation systems globally.
Our operating base in nine countries provides ATS with a
unique advantage in serving multinational customers who
require worldwide support for their manufacturing systems
– which is typically not available from local suppliers.
Broad Technical Skills: Our expertise with many diverse
automation and manufacturing technologies enables ATS to
provide custom automation, repeat automation, automation
products and value added consulting and maintenance
services across a broad number of industry segments.
Trusted Customer Relationships: ATS has developed
long-term relationships with many multinational customers
who purchase automation solutions repeatedly. In fiscal
2009, 70% of Order Bookings came from repeat customers.
Recognized Name: ATS is well-known within the global
automation industry because of its history of innovation
and broad scope of operations. This reputation assists
sales prospecting and allows ATS to be considered for
a wide variety of customer programs.
Total Solutions Capabilities: Our size, scope,
experience and breadth of technical skills enable ATS to
provide turn-key, single-source solutions for customers.
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Photowatt
France
In Profile
Photowatt is an integrated manufacturer of
photovoltaic products used by businesses,
institutions and homeowners since 1979.

Competitive Strengths
Integrated Manufacturing Capabilities: Photowatt
France’s integrated manufacturing capabilities, including
ingot, wafer, cell and module production allow it to participate
across a significant portion of the solar value chain.
Flexible Silicon Processing Technologies: Photowatt
France has developed processes and technologies to
manufacture solar cells from both UMG-Si and polysilicon.
This provides Photowatt France with flexibility to manufacture
using a variety of silicon feedstock, depending on cost and
availability in the market.
Established Market Positions and Relationships:
Photowatt France has developed market positions in a
number of western European countries with established
and growing solar markets, including Germany (the world’s
largest market for solar), France, Spain, and Portugal.
Well-established relationships with key distributors and
installers, along with timely delivery as a result of vertical
integration and reputation for quality differentiate Photowatt
in these markets.

Systems

Modules

Cells

Ingot
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Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive Officer
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc.

Fellow Shareholders:
I joined ATS 20 months ago with a
mandate from our Board of Directors
to create shareholder value. To achieve
this mandate, a three step plan was
developed: fix our problems, separate
our two businesses (ASG and
Photowatt) and grow.
A number of specific near term
activities in support of the plan were
defined as follows:
1. Improve management (leadership,
business processes and
performance management);
2. Fix ASG (core operations, division
characteristics and approach to
market);
3. Position Photowatt to become a
standalone company (fix
operations, secure feedstock,
ability to scale);
4. Strengthen the balance sheet
(credit agreement, cash
management, monetize non-core
assets); and
5. Sell Precision Components Group
(“PCG”).
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We have completed year one of the
plan, and I am pleased to report good
progress in all areas.
Management and control were
strengthened through recruitment
and structural change. A number
of business processes related
to customer bids, program
management, division profitability,
cash flow and capacity management
were modified or implemented. New
executive, management and sales
incentive plans were introduced to
align with shareholder value creation.
As a result, operations have been
stabilized and most of the Company’s
divisions are operating at an acceptable level. Our degree of operational
control is now adequate and we are
addressing our remaining weaknesses.
At ASG, a strategic review of all
divisions was completed in fiscal
2009 to shape their character (core
competencies and markets served).
Restructuring was undertaken. Two
divisions were closed and three other
divisions saw their mandates change.
At year end, 60% of ASG divisions
were producing acceptable levels of
performance compared to 20% at
year end fiscal 2008. Actions are now

underway to eliminate manufacturing
and/or close three more RED
(underperforming) divisions in Europe
and Asia. Improvements in approach
to market, program management and
supply chain management will move
more divisions to acceptable
performance levels.
RED programs were reduced to less
than 30% of all programs by year end
(two-thirds of which date back to
2008) from over 40% at the beginning
of fiscal 2009 as ASG completed 3 of
10 underperforming legacy programs
that continue to have a significant
impact on profitability. It may take
several quarters to resolve the
technical and commercial issues with
the remainder. A new, more
comprehensive approach to market
was introduced. Using it, ASG
generated an approximately $50
million order in the third quarter of
fiscal 2009. Indications from other
customers suggest a receptive
market, although success will be
sporadic. These factors contributed
to ASG’s 27% year-over-year growth
in revenue (despite a 30% reduction
in the number of operations) and the
best operating earnings performance
($58.7 million) in 8 years.
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Strategy Overview

PHASE 3
VALUE

At Photowatt, progress was made in
several areas in support of separation.
Management strength and control
were improved. Photowatt established
its own credit facilities of €36 million.
The efficiency of UMG-Si cells was
increased to 14.3% from 13.5% at the
beginning of the year. These gains
were consistent with our goal of
increasing cell efficiency by 50 basis
points every six months – a goal that
translates into more watts to sell at a
given level of production and the
potential for higher earnings.
Additional gains of up to 2% are being
sought through PV Alliance (“PVA”).
Construction of the PVA’s 25
megawatt (“MW”) cell line has started
and will be complete in fiscal 2010. To
reduce cost per watt, and balance
production capacity, we made a €20
million investment in Photowatt
France. Automation experts from ASG
are continuing to work with Photowatt
France to develop process
improvements, which will lead to
automation equipment installation in
fiscal 2010. A supply chain strategy
was implemented to supplement cell
and module production. As a result of
these activities, Photowatt France
increased MWs sold year over year by
24% to 54.2 MWs, increased revenue

PHASE 2
PHASE 1

GROW

STANDALONE
COMPANIES

FIX
TIME
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by a corresponding 36% and
generated operating earnings of
$20.8 million. To separate Photowatt
France, we believe stable profitability,
increased utilization of our existing
facility and a secure supply of silicon
are required.
Our balance sheet is strong. Since
the third quarter of fiscal 2008, we
have monetized $66.7 million in
non-core assets. We completed a
common share offering raising gross
proceeds of $50 million. These
actions, combined with cash
generated from operations of almost
$75 million in fiscal 2009, combined to
improve our cash net of debt position
to $118.4 million at March 31, 2009
from negative $17 million at September
30, 2007. We have improved our
banking relationships and currently
have credit facilities of $85 million in
North America and €36 million in
Photowatt. These actions have
provided a foundation which allows us
to pursue strategic opportunities.
In fiscal 2009, we completed the sale
of PCG.
The actions taken to date improved
ATS profitability from a loss of 33 cents
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per share a year ago to earnings of 61
cents per share in fiscal 2009.
Global Recession and Response
When we developed our plan we did
not anticipate the turmoil in the global
markets and the impact on liquidity
and capital spending. We are linked,
directly and indirectly, to the economic
performance of our markets. The
global financial crisis that began in
mid fiscal 2009, which has become
progressively harsher, presents a
significant challenge. Consequently,
we have modified our plans to
respond to these new challenges
while remaining committed and
focused on our original objectives.
For ASG, we expect the financial crisis
to continue to cause our customers to
reduce capital spending and delay or
defer certain programs. This will
increase Order Booking volatility and
put pressure on commercial terms.
At Photowatt, recent reductions in
feed-in tariffs (government subsidies)
coupled with difficult credit markets
have created the potential for market
over-supply in fiscal 2010 and further
reductions in selling prices on lower
short-term demand.

In response we have accelerated our
restructuring, further tightened our
credit policies and are frequently
requesting accelerated cash terms
and letters of credit. In some cases,
we will consider credit risk insurance
and in all cases we actively monitor
receivable aging. In response to lower
demand, Photowatt halted production
for three weeks in the first quarter of
fiscal 2010. Photowatt will need to
reduce overhead costs, and continue
to drive cost per watt reductions and
efficiency improvements.
To date, we have partially mitigated
this downturn through defensive
strategies and approach to market.
Based on success so far, we have
confidence in our business, but less
confidence in our ability to understand
the full implications of the downturn
on our markets and ATS. It is simply
not possible to know if our mitigation
plans are enduring or sufficient
enough. Accordingly, we are prepared
to develop additional responses
as necessary.
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Looking Forward
Looking forward, the business
environment is more challenging and
difficult to forecast. This creates
uncertainty and risk. However, our
balance sheet gives us the ability to
pursue opportunistic acquisitions. It
affords Photowatt the opportunity to
seek appropriate strategic
relationships, explore downstream
(customer/partner) possibilities in
France, advance our relationship with
PV Alliance partners and broaden the
commercial relationship with ASG for
cost and competitive advantage. Due
to the deliberately short-term nature
of our new silicon supply agreements,
we have the flexibility to design a
supply strategy to suit market
conditions and exploit attractive
commercial terms.
On approach to market, we will
continue to advance a more
comprehensive ASG offering to
customers that includes preautomation services, design
development, equipment build and
support. In context, we expect it will
take some time to broadly adopt this
approach internally, and externally, we
may begin to see a longer sales cycle
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owing to the current economic
environment. At Photowatt, we are
currently investigating downstream
alternatives to create an additional
market for Photowatt with a view to
securing average selling prices for
fiscal 2010.

characteristics. Our divisions are now
subject to a filter to ensure those
characteristics are present or
possible. Target acquisitions would
provide scale, attractive market
positions and differentiated
technologies.

Other key improvements are planned
for fiscal 2010. ASG will require
completion of its restructuring plans,
continued development of its revised
approach to market and more focus
on working capital. Now that we have
a good level of operational control over
our business, we intend to improve the
way we plan our customer programs,
approach suppliers and use internal
resources, including existing
automation designs – as part of fixing
our supply chain. Benchmarking best
practices and the Company-wide roll
out of these practices will further
improve our business.

ATS is a world leader with a strong
balance sheet, low cost base,
effective operating processes and a
team aligned to shareholder value
creation. I believe that when the
economy stabilizes, we will emerge
in an even better competitive
position. We are prepared to face
adversity and embrace the new
possibilities that our value creation
plan has created.

We have goals left to achieve in the
first phase of our value creation plan
but I believe we are positioning ATS
appropriately for separation and
growth. The growth phase will be
characterized by organic expansion
and acquisition. Organic growth will
require divisions to possess specific

Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive Officer
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Automation Systems Group
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Order Bookings

Fiscal 2009 Progress Report
Improve core operations

Unsatisfactory

Underway

Satisfactory

• Improve program management and execution
• Increase internal sub-contracting to reduce costs
• Transfer skills and increase capabilities in all divisions
• Standardize designs
• Reduce third-party material costs
• Increase use of standard products
• Protect and leverage internally-developed
intellectual property
Change market approach
• Centralize bid review and approval
• Differentiate custom offerings on technology, value
and global capability
• Manage large global customer accounts strategically
Shape divisions
• Review scope and “character” (core competencies
and markets served) of all divisions
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Market Approach
Extensive knowledge and capabilities enable ASG to globally serve broadly diversified
markets, including healthcare, computer-electronics, automotive, energy and others
including consumer products and appliances. To create value, ASG is changing the way it
approaches these markets. This means approaching customers proactively with automation
solutions before they identify a need or seek competitive quotes. ASG will sell based on
technology, value and global capability.

Fiscal 2010 Plan
Strengthen leadership and business processes
•

Assess management across the Company

•

Identify and implement best practices

•

Eliminate RED programs

•

Establish processes to identify, protect and leverage
intellectual property

Supply chain management
•

Reduce third-party material costs

•

Standardize designs

•

Increase use of standard products

•

Increase internal sub-contracting and coordination
between divisions

Revenue by Industry Fiscal 2009

Healthcare

Computer-electronics

Automotive

Energy

Other

Revenue by Installation Location Fiscal 2009

Approach to market
•

Establish market discriminators

•

Central bid review and approval

•

Take a strategic, global customer approach
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Asia/Other

9

Photowatt France

Well Positioned to Create Value
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Fiscal 2009 Progress Report
Fix Operations

Unsatisfactory

Underway

Satisfactory

• Increase cell efficiency of UMG-Si products to over 14% by year-end
• Balance plant capacity, improve productivity and cell efficiency through
approximately €20 million investment
• Increase total output by supplementing internal cell and module production
with third-party manufacturing
• Identify cost-reduction opportunities
Advance the PV Alliance
• Research to improve polysilicon and UMG-Si cell efficiency through the
construction of a 25 MW cell line at Photowatt France
• Consider further research and manufacturing opportunities with PV Alliance
Secure silicon feedstock
• Secure appropriate UMG-Si or polysilicon supply in order to support further
capacity expansion
Prepare to increase scale
• Secure agreements with customers with a view to expanding output, which
may include strategic downstream relationships and/or further development
of the PV Alliance
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Market Approach
To create value, Photowatt France is changing the way it approaches the market. This
means developing downstream strategies, including BIPV modules for the French market,
reviewing potential sites (including our own facilities) for solar installation projects, developing
proposals for French government projects, and advancing relationships with PV Alliance
partners and others.
Photowatt France has established market positions in several Western European countries,
including France, Germany, Spain and Portugal.

Fiscal 2010 Plan
Strengthen leadership and prepare for separation
•

Assess all levels of management

•

Advance the PV Alliance

Revenue by Market Fiscal 2009

Reduce manufacturing costs and improve
cell efficiency
•

Secure appropriate silicon feedstock

•

Increase cell efficiency

•

Utilize supply chain

•

Partner with ASG to improve operations

•

Reduce overhead

Germany

Spain

Rest of Europe

North America

France
Asia/Other

Revenue by Product Type Fiscal 2009

Increase system sales and investigate potential
downstream alternatives
•

Downstream alternatives

•

System sales
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended March 31, 2009

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. (“ATS” or the “Company”) operates two segments:
k

Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) is an industry leader in planning, designing, building, commissioning and servicing
automated manufacturing and assembly systems — including automation products and test solutions — for a broadlydiversified base of customers. ATS’s reputation, knowledge, global presence and standard automation technology platforms
differentiate the Company and provide it with competitive advantages in the worldwide market for healthcare, computer-electronics,
automotive, energy and consumer products automation.

k

Photowatt Technologies designs, manufactures and markets photovoltaic solar energy cells and modules for customers
worldwide. Photowatt Technologies primarily includes Photowatt France (“PWF”), a vertically-integrated manufacturer of ingots,
wafers, solar cells and solar modules located near Lyon, France. PWF’s vertically-integrated capabilities allow it to capture a greater
portion of the profits available across a significant portion of the solar value chain and reduce dependence on third-party suppliers.
PWF also gains advantage from its research and development capabilities, alliances with energy industry leaders through the PV
Alliance (“PVA”) joint venture and market position established over the past 30 years.

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY
To drive value creation, the Company implemented a three-step strategic plan at the end of fiscal 2008: fix the business (fix the existing
operations, gain operating control of the business and earn credibility); separate the businesses (create standalone ASG and PWF
businesses, monetize non-core assets and strengthen the balance sheet); and grow (both organically and through acquisition). The focus in
year one of the plan — fiscal 2009 — was to stabilize the Company and improve operating performance, specifically:
k

Improve management through strengthened leadership, business processes and performance management;

k

Fix ASG’s approach to market, improve core operations, shape division character (core competencies and markets served), scope
and size;

k

Position PWF to become a standalone company by fixing operations, securing appropriate silicon feedstock and establishing the
ability to scale;

k

Strengthen the balance sheet by completing a credit agreement, improving cash management and monetizing non-core assets;

k

Sell the Precision Components Group (“PCG”), a non-strategic, discontinued operation.

In fiscal 2009, the Company made progress against the strategic plan.
Improve management: Since the third quarter of fiscal 2008 eight experienced executives have been appointed, including six from outside
the Company. Executive and management incentive compensation has been aligned with shareholder value drivers including Order
Bookings generation, operating earnings and cash generation. Several new operational control processes to improve program
management, capacity planning, customer bid review and approvals, and human resource planning have been implemented.
Fix ASG: During fiscal 2009, the Company rationalized its workforce and manufacturing operations by closing divisions that were
underperforming and not strategic. Improvements were also made to the customer proposal process, customer program management,
capacity planning and resource allocation.
Position PWF to become a standalone company: During fiscal 2009, PWF reached cell efficiency of 14.3% using upgraded
metallurgical silicon (“UMG-Si”), improved yield and lowered cost per watt, successfully managed its supply chain to drive increased
output and profitability, secured PWF-specific financing and continued to advance the PVA.
Strengthen the balance sheet: In early fiscal 2009, the Company completed a new credit agreement which provides $85 million in credit
facilities until October 2009, sold and monetized $16 million of non-core assets and completed a public share issuance on a bought-deal
basis to raise gross proceeds of $50 million.
Sell PCG: During fiscal 2009, the Company completed the sale of its Precision Components Group to a group that included PCG
management. The sale included the segment’s key operating assets and liabilities including its China-based subsidiary.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2008, management estimated that the initiatives to improve operating performance would cost
approximately $30 million. The Company has now incurred $30.3 million of such costs. From the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 through
to the end of fiscal 2009, costs incurred in this respect included restructuring and severance costs of $17.0 million, PCG operating losses of
$10.9 million, and $2.4 million related primarily to the wind-down of Spheral Solar. Management more than offset these costs through the
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sale of the Spheral Solar building (net cash proceeds of $16.0 million, gain on sale of $3.2 million), and the sale of silicon not usable by
Photowatt France or Spheral Solar ($18.8 million during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and first quarter of fiscal 2009).
In response to the current global recession, management has reassessed its restructuring initiatives and has, in some cases, accelerated
and expanded these initiatives. Management anticipates that it will incur an additional $4 million to $6 million of costs to complete the
currently-planned consolidation and restructuring of operations, improvements to supply chain and approach to market. At PWF,
management is considering a plan to reduce the cost structure which may cost up to $10 million. Management is monitoring the
impact of the current economic environment on the Company and will continue to modify plans accordingly.

FISCAL 2010 STRATEGY OVERVIEW
Considerable progress was made against the Company’s strategic plan in fiscal 2009. Work remains to be done to complete the “fix” phase
of the Company’s value creation plan, to position the Company’s two operating segments for separation, and to offset current global
economic weakness. In fiscal 2010 ATS plans to continue to execute the strategic plan by focusing on the following actions:
Improve leadership and spread best practices: To strengthen the Company’s management and further improve operations,
management intends to:
k

Strengthen leadership: Continue to reward and recruit top performers;

k

Spread best practices: Benchmark best practices and implement those business processes Company-wide;

k

Fix operations: Complete the consolidation of under-performing and non-strategic divisions;

k

Advance the PVA: PWF will continue to advance the PVA to realize the benefit of research to improve cell efficiency.

Strengthen supply chain management: To realize cost reductions, improve cash terms and increase quality, management intends to:
k

Standardize designs, components and products: Leverage standard designs, components and products to reduce time to
market, reduce costs and improve quality;

k

Reduce material costs: Develop relationships with key suppliers globally and grade supplier performance to improve quality,
service, cash terms, and reduce costs;

k

Increase inter-division sub-contracting: Utilize expertise and divisional “character” (core competencies and markets served) to
increase quality and reduce manufacturing costs; and

k

Secure silicon: Secure appropriate quality and quantity of silicon for PWF.

Improve approach to market: Continue to build upon early successes in ASG’s revised approach to market and further develop PWF’s
systems and downstream business-model:
k

ASG approach to market: Develop sales campaigns and targeted automation solutions for customers based on differentiating
technological solutions, value of outcomes achieved by customers and global capability;

k

Move PWF downstream: Management will continue to emphasize solar “Systems” sales (modules, combined with installation
kits, solar power system design and/or other value added services) and investigate downstream strategies with a view to securing
sales volumes and average selling prices in France.

Develop strategies to address the weak global economy: Management expects the current economic recession and tight credit
markets will impact both ASG and PWF. In response, management is developing strategies and taking actions in an effort to protect, and
where possible, improve the Company’s market position and long-term viability. In support of these strategies, the Company intends to
arrange primary credit facilities beyond the current expiry date of October 2009.
Note to Reader
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited Consolidated Financial
Statements for the years ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 (“Consolidated Financial Statements”) which have been prepared in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Amounts are expressed in Canadian currency unless otherwise noted.
Additional information relating to the Company, including its Annual Information Form, can be found on SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.
The Company has two reportable segments: Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) and Photowatt Technologies (“Photowatt”) which includes
PWF (the ongoing Photowatt Technologies operations), Photowatt U.S.A., a small module assembly facility and sales operation closed
during fiscal 2008 and Spheral Solar, a halted development project that has been wound down. References to cell “efficiency” means the
percentage of incident energy that is converted into electrical energy in a solar cell. Solar cells and modules are sold based on wattage
output. “Silicon” refers to a variety of silicon feedstock, including polysilicon, upgraded metallurgical silicon (“UMG-Si”) and polysilicon
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
powders and fines. As described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Precision Components Group (“PCG”) was
classified as held for sale as of March 31, 2008 and sold during fiscal 2009. PCG results are reported in discontinued operations.
Non-GAAP Measures
Throughout this document the term “operating earnings” is used to denote earnings (loss) from operations. EBITDA is also used and is
defined as earnings (loss) from operations excluding depreciation, amortization (which includes amortization of intangible assets) and
segment and division allocation of corporate costs. The term “margin” refers to an amount as a percentage of revenue. The terms “earnings
from operations”, “operating earnings”, “margin”, “operating loss”, “operating margin”, “EBITDA”, “Order Bookings” and “Order Backlog” do
not have any standardized meaning prescribed within GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other
companies. Operating earnings and EBITDA are some of the measures the Company uses to evaluate the performance of its segments. ATS
presents EBITDA to show its performance before depreciation and amortization. Management believes that ATS shareholders and potential
investors in ATS use non-GAAP financial measures such as operating earnings and EBITDA in making investment decisions about the
Company and measuring its operational results. A reconciliation of EBITDA to earnings from operations for the three and twelve month
periods ending March 31, 2009 and 2008 is contained in the MD&A. EBITDA should not be construed as a substitute for net income
determined in accordance with GAAP. Order Bookings represent new orders for the supply of automation systems that management
believes are firm. Order Backlog is the estimated unearned portion of ASG revenue on customer contracts that are in process and have not
been completed at the specified date.

AUTOMATION SYSTEMS GROUP
Overview
The Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) is an industry-leading automation solutions provider to some of the world’s largest multinational
companies. ASG has expertise in custom automation, repeat automation, automation products and value-added services.
ASG categorizes its market segments into five industry groups: healthcare, computer-electronics, automotive, energy and “other” markets.
Other markets for ASG include a variety of industries such as consumer products and appliances. Contract values for individual automation
systems are often in excess of $1.0 million. Given the custom nature of customer projects, contract durations vary greatly, with typical
durations ranging from 6-12 months.
With broad and in-depth knowledge across multiple industries and technical fields, ASG is able to deliver “single source” solutions to
customers that can lower their production costs, accelerate delivery of their products, and improve quality control. ASG’s relationships with
customers often begin with planning and feasibility studies. In situations where the customer is seeking in-depth analysis before committing
to a program, ASG provides objective analysis to verify the economics and feasibility of different types of automation, sets objectives for
factors such as line speed and yield, assesses production processes for manufacturability and calculates the total cost of ownership.
When a contract for an automation solution is received, ASG often provides a number of services, including engineering design, prototyping,
process verification, specification writing, software development, automation simulation, equipment design and build, third-party equipment
qualification, procurement and integration, automation system installation, product line start up, documentation, customer training and
after-installation support. Following the installation of custom automation, ASG may supply duplicate or “repeat” automation systems to
customers that leverage engineering design completed in the original customer program. For customers seeking complex equipment
replication, ASG’s Automation Products Group (“APG”) provides value engineering, supply chain management, integration and
manufacturing capabilities. Typically, APG solutions are either integrated into a larger system by the customer for resale, or delivered as
a standalone machine to customers who then resell the completed product.
Competitive Strengths.
Management believes ASG has the following competitive strengths:
Global presence, size and critical mass. ASG’s global presence and scale make it one of the largest providers of automation systems
globally. Its global operating platform provides an advantage in serving multinational customers because the markets in which the Company
operates are largely populated by competitors with narrow geographic and/or industrial market reach. ASG has manufacturing operations in
Canada, the United States, China, Singapore, Malaysia, Germany and Switzerland. Management believes that ASG’s scale and locations
provide it with competitive advantages in winning large, multi-jurisdictional customer programs that have become increasingly common.
Technical skills, capabilities and experience. Automation manufacturing is a knowledge-based business. ASG has designed,
manufactured, assembled and serviced thousands of automation systems worldwide since 1978 and has an extensive knowledge
base and accumulated design experience. Management believes ASG’s broad experience in many different industry sectors, with many
diverse technologies, along with its talented workforce and ability to provide custom automation, repeat automation, APG solutions and
value-added services, position the Company well to serve complex multinational customer programs in a variety of industry sectors.
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Customer relationships. ASG serves some of the world’s largest multinational companies. Most of ASG’s customers are repeat
customers and many have long-standing relationships with ATS, often spanning more than a decade. In fiscal 2009, management
estimates that approximately 70% of ASG Order Bookings were earned from repeat customers.
Recognized name. ATS is well known within the global automation industry due to its long history of innovation and broad scope of
operations. Management believes that ATS’s brand name and global reputation tend to improve sales prospecting, allowing the Company to
be considered for a wide variety of customer programs.
Total solutions capabilities. Management believes ATS gains competitive advantages because ASG provides total turnkey solutions in
automation. This allows customers to single source their most complex projects to ATS rather than rely on multiple equipment builders.
ASG Business Strategy: Fiscal 2010
ASG’s objectives in fiscal 2010 are to complete the fix of ASG operations and position the segment for growth. To achieve these objectives,
management plans to:
Strengthen leadership and business processes. To build upon the operational improvements made in fiscal 2009, management
intends to strengthen leadership and spread best practices:
k

Assess management across the Company: In fiscal 2010, the Company will perform a corporate-led assessment of ASG
management to strengthen leadership at all levels;

k

Identify and implement best practices: The Company will roll-out best practices globally to improve customer bids and proposals,
capacity planning, supply chain management and remediation of “RED” programs (programs which are not delivered to specification,
on-time or on budget). Management believes this will improve division performance globally and facilitate internal subcontracting and
inter-division co-operation (see “Internal Subcontracting” below);

k

Eliminate RED programs: ASG plans to eliminate remaining RED programs;

k

Establish processes to identify, protect and leverage intellectual property: In early fiscal 2009, ATS launched a program to
identify and patent new technologies developed by ASG. Management has established a patent committee and internal processes to
protect and leverage ATS’ technology base.

Supply chain management. To capitalize on ATS’ scale and consolidated purchasing power, management plans to improve supply chain
management:
k

Material cost reduction: ASG is working with its suppliers to establish better service, quality, payment and pricing terms. Management
believes this will improve timely program performance and quality while reducing costs;

k

Standard designs: ASG is implementing processes to allow engineers to share designs across the Company and leverage past
designs. The Company plans to implement information technologies to improve the ability to share designs globally, including Wide Area
Network technologies and improved collaboration tools. Management believes this will reduce technical risk and program costs;

k

Standard products: In conjunction with actions to standardize designs and reduce material costs, the Company is reviewing major
sub-components used globally and intends to move towards using standard products in design and build. Management believes this will
reduce both material and design costs;

k

Internal subcontracting: ASG has implemented a global capacity management process and inter-divisional subcontracting processes
to encourage internal subcontracting and co-operation between divisions. Management believes this will increase factory utilization,
reduce costs and help to develop divisional “character” (core competencies and markets served).

Approach to market. In fiscal 2009, management implemented a revised approach to market for ASG. In fiscal 2010, this approach to
market will be rolled out globally:
k

Establish market discriminators: ASG’s sales and marketing group is developing sales campaigns and targeting automation
solutions for its customers based on differentiating technological solutions, value of outcomes achieved by customers and global
capability;

k

Central bid review and approval: Management has implemented central review of all significant customer bids, including operational,
legal and financial approval with a view to reducing credit risk, technical risk, contractual risk and increasing co-ordination of services to
customers globally;

k

Take a strategic, global customer approach: Management has identified global customer accounts, and has assigned global
account managers to these large multinational customers. All sales activity on these accounts will be monitored and approved centrally.
Management believes this approach will benefit both customers and ASG.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Overview of Fiscal 2009
During fiscal 2009, ASG made substantial progress in fixing the operations of the segment. During the year, ASG:
k

Performed a strategic review of ASG divisions globally resulting in the consolidation of several manufacturing operations and
rationalization of the global workforce while increasing output;

k

Increased Order Bookings by 10% over fiscal 2008, which included a customer program worth approximately $50 million, demonstrating
success with ASG’s revised approach to market;

k

Reduced RED programs to less than 30% of total programs from over 40% a year ago;

k

Grew year over year revenues by 27% and increased operating margins from 0% in fiscal 2008 to 10% in fiscal 2009.

ASG Revenue

(in millions of dollars, except employment)

Revenue by industry
Healthcare
Computer-Electronics

Q4 2009
$

46.5
18.3

Q4 2008
$

39.7
29.4

2009
$

151.1
100.6

2008
$

135.7
116.0

Automotive

23.9

29.4

98.1

109.5

Energy
Other

57.9
7.7

17.7
9.1

190.7
48.0

65.7
38.1

Total Revenue

$

154.3

$

125.3

$

588.5

$

465.0

$

90.7
20.7

$

77.0
24.4

$

363.6
110.7

$

265.3
100.5

$

154.3

$

125.3

$

465.0

Revenue by installation location
North America
Europe
Asia/Other
Total Revenue
Employees at year end

42.9

23.9

114.2
$

588.5
1,952

99.2

2,310

Fourth Quarter Revenue
Fourth quarter ASG revenue increased 23% or $29.0 million compared to the same quarter a year ago. This improvement was due to
increased Order Bookings and Order Backlog in the first three quarters of fiscal 2009.
By industrial market, healthcare revenue increased 17% year over year on strong Order Bookings in the third and fourth quarters of the fiscal
year. Computer-electronics revenue decreased 38%, primarily on lower Order Bookings in the third and fourth quarters in Asia and the
U.S. Automotive revenue decreased 19%, reflecting lower automotive revenue in Europe as existing programs were completed. ASG
revenue from the energy market increased 227%, primarily from activity in the solar and nuclear industries. Revenue from “other” markets
decreased 15% due primarily to lower revenues in the consumer products industry.
On a regional basis, growth in programs installed in Asia and the U.S. more than offset lower revenues from installations in Europe and
Canada. APG revenue increased 297% to $50.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, compared to $12.8 million a year ago, primarily
reflecting two new APG customer programs.
Quarter-over-quarter foreign exchange rate changes positively impacted ASG revenues by an estimated $15.7 million for the fourth quarter,
compared to a year ago, primarily reflecting a stronger U.S. dollar and Euro relative to the Canadian dollar.
Full Year Revenue
Annual ASG revenue increased 27% or $123.5 million compared to fiscal 2008. This increase primarily reflected higher Order Backlog
entering fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 and higher Order Bookings during fiscal 2009 compared to the same period a year ago. By
industrial market, healthcare revenue increased 11%, computer-electronics revenue decreased 13%, automotive revenue decreased 10%,
energy revenues increased 190%, and revenue from “other” industries increased 26%. On a regional basis, revenues by installation location
grew by 10% in Europe, 15% in Asia and 37% in North America, with particular strength in programs installed in the United States.
Year-over-year foreign exchange rate changes positively impacted ASG revenues by an estimated $22.6 million for fiscal 2009 compared to
fiscal 2008, primarily on translation of foreign subsidiaries reflecting a stronger U.S. dollar and Euro relative to the Canadian dollar in the last
half of fiscal 2009.
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ASG Operating Results (in millions of dollars)
Q4 2009
Earnings (loss) from operations

$

Depreciation and amortization

19.8

Q4 2008
$

2.3

EBITDA

$

22.1

2009

(4.2)

$

2.1
$

58.7

2008
$

8.5

(2.1)

$

67.2

0.9
8.2

$

9.1

Fourth Quarter Operating Earnings
Fiscal 2009 fourth quarter earnings from operations of $19.8 million (operating margin of 13%) included severance and restructuring costs of
$2.7 million compared to an operating loss of $4.2 million and severance and restructuring costs of $9.0 million in the same quarter a year
ago. Fiscal 2009 fourth quarter restructuring charges relate to workforce reductions made primarily in ASG’s Canadian operations.
Excluding severance and restructuring costs, fiscal 2009 fourth quarter operating earnings were $22.5 million (operating margin of 15%),
compared to $4.8 million in fiscal 2008 (operating margin of 4%). This improvement was driven by increased revenue, cost reductions
implemented during fiscal 2009, supply chain cost reductions, and improved program management. On a regional basis, improvements in
Canadian operating results before severance and restructuring costs were partially offset by reduced earnings in the Company’s
U.S. operations compared to the same period a year ago.
Foreign exchange rate changes positively impacted ASG operating earnings in the fourth quarter fiscal 2009 by an estimated $1.3 million
compared to a year ago, primarily reflecting a stronger U.S. dollar and Euro relative to the Canadian dollar.
Full Year Operating Earnings
Fiscal 2009 operating earnings of $58.7 million included severance and restructuring costs of $5.9 million, compared to operating earnings
of $0.9 million including severance costs of $11.1 million in fiscal 2008. Fiscal 2009 severance and restructuring costs were incurred as part
of workforce reductions implemented in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 and costs incurred related to the consolidation of manufacturing
facilities in Tucson, U.S.A., Lyon, France, Shanghai, China, Michigan, U.S.A. and Thailand. The Company has maintained a sales, service
and support presence in these geographical regions.
Excluding severance costs, fiscal 2009 operating earnings were $64.6 million (operating margin of 11%), compared to operating earnings of
$12.0 million (operating margin of 3%) in fiscal 2008. Improvements in operating earnings excluding severance costs were driven by the 27%
year-over-year increase in revenue, cost reductions implemented during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and during fiscal 2009, supply chain
cost reductions and improved program management. On a regional basis, improvements in Canadian operating results before severance
and restructuring costs were partially offset by reduced earnings in U.S. and Asian operations.
Foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted fiscal 2009 ASG operating earnings by an estimated $2.6 million compared to a year
ago, primarily reflecting a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in the first two quarters, offset by a stronger U.S. dollar relative to
the Canadian dollar in the third and fourth quarters and a stronger Euro relative to the Canadian dollar in all four quarters.
ASG Order Bookings by Quarter

(in millions of dollars)

Fiscal 2009
Q1
Q2

$

169
133

Q3

157

Q4

126

Total Order Bookings

$

585

Fiscal 2008
$

146
133
115
137

$

531

Fiscal 2009 Order Bookings were $585 million, 10% higher than the previous year, driven primarily by strong Order Bookings in healthcare
and energy sectors. Order Bookings during the first 10 weeks of fiscal 2010 were approximately $64 million.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
ASG Order Backlog Continuity (in millions of dollars)
Fiscal 2009
$
232

Fiscal 2008
$
185

Revenue

(588)

(465)

Order Bookings
Order Backlog adjustments1

585
26

531
(19)

Opening Order Backlog

Period end Order Backlog

$

255

$

232

1 Order Backlog adjustments include foreign exchange and cancellations. Fiscal 2008 Order Backlog adjustments include a U.S. $12.3 million order
cancellation.

ASG Order Backlog by Industry (in millions of dollars, except percentage change)
March 31, 2009
Healthcare
Computer-electronics

$

92
10

March 31, 2008
$

Percentage
Change

58
41

59%
(76)%

Automotive

29

41

(29)%

Energy
Other

86
38

68
24

26%
58%

232

10%

Total

$

255

$

Order Backlog of $255 million at March 31, 2009 was 10% higher than at March 31, 2008 primarily reflecting higher Order Bookings in the
first three quarters of fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 and the positive impact of foreign exchange rates.
Increased healthcare Order Backlog primarily reflected higher Order Backlog in North America and Europe compared to the prior year.
Decreased computer-electronics Order Backlog primarily reflected lower Order Backlog in North America and Asia, which more than offset
slightly higher computer-electronics Order Backlog in Europe compared to the prior year. Lower automotive Order Backlog primarily
reflected a decline in the European automotive Order Backlog. The increase in energy Order Backlog reflects strong Order Bookings in both
the nuclear and solar industries during fiscal 2009.
ASG Outlook
ASG’s customers and the markets into which ASG sells continue to be negatively impacted by the current global economic recession, the
duration of which is uncertain. ASG customers are reducing their capital spending and / or delaying programs to varying degrees depending
on the market segment and some may experience financial difficulties. Recent events in the automotive industry are expected to have an
impact on ASG customers who operate in this industry. There is increased risk of bankruptcies in the automotive industry as the decline in
consumer demand negatively impacts automotive manufacturers and their suppliers. As well, the solar industry is facing credit and market
challenges which could impact ASG customers and limit their access to capital for expansion and growth. Management believes these
developments could have a negative impact on ASG’s future operating profitability.
ASG expects continued reduction in requests for proposals through its traditional channels to market. To deal with the immediate
uncertainty, management has increased its focus on all customer opportunities and proposals. Management is also carefully evaluating the
cash and credit terms of customer proposals and where appropriate, is not pursuing unacceptable or high risk credit terms. ASG has
experienced some success with its new approach to market, however, these opportunities are sporadic in nature and are not expected to
repeat every quarter.
Operationally, ASG plans to continue the consolidation and restructuring of underperforming, non-strategic manufacturing operations.
These closures will occur over the next several quarters as current customer commitments are completed or moved to other divisions.
Completion of these initiatives is expected to cost between $4 million to $6 million. Management is actively monitoring the changing market
conditions and will continue to modify plans accordingly.
Management expects that the implementation of its strategic initiatives to improve leadership, business processes and supply chain
management across ASG will have a positive impact on ASG operations. In the short-term however, management is uncertain as to what
extent the improvement actions will offset current market conditions.
Management believes that the Company’s strengthened balance sheet, improved approach to market and operational improvements will
allow ASG to emerge from the current global economic recession in a strong competitive position.
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PHOTOWATT TECHNOLOGIES
Overview
The core business of Photowatt Technologies is Photowatt France (“PWF”), an integrated solar ingot, wafer, cell and module manufacturer
located near Lyon, France. PWF designs, manufactures and sells solar modules and installation kits, and provides solar power system
design and other value-added services, principally in Western Europe. It also manufactures ingots, wafers and solar cells, primarily for use in
manufacturing its modules. Solar modules manufactured by PWF are used by businesses, institutions and homeowners to generate electric
power. It sells its products under the Photowatt brand to a network of independent solar power systems distributors and installers. PWF has
developed and sold photovoltaic products since 1979.
PWF’s production process is composed of four stages: ingot production, wafer sawing, solar cell production and solar module assembly. Its
manufacturing process begins with the growth of ingots from silicon using specialized furnaces. The ingots are then cut into bricks, and the
bricks are sawed into wafers using an abrasive solution and specialized wire saws. Next, the wafers are processed into solar cells, which are
connected in series to form a solar module. The raw materials required in the manufacturing process include silicon, tempered glass, plastic
films, anti-reflective and aluminum coatings, metal frames, and connecting systems.
Competitive Strengths.
Management believes that PWF has the following competitive strengths:
Integrated manufacturing capabilities. PWF is considered “integrated” in that it participates in each of the ingot, wafer, cell and module
stages of the solar module production process. Management believes that being an integrated manufacturer gives PWF several advantages
relative to many of its competitors, including:
k

The ability to capture a greater portion of the profits available by participating across a significant portion of the solar value chain;

k

Reduced dependence on third-party suppliers for ingots, wafers and cells;

k

Improved research and development capabilities to increase cell efficiency levels through improvements in various phases of production;

k

The flexibility, within the wafer manufacturing process, to optimize the mix of feedstock based on price and performance;

k

The ability to process a wide variety of silicon feedstock; and

k

Improved process development capabilities that allow the business to continually evaluate the impact of changes throughout the
production process.

Flexible silicon processing technologies. PWF has developed processes and technologies to manufacture solar cells from both UMGSi and polysilicon. This provides PWF with flexibility to manufacture using a variety of silicon feedstock, depending on cost and availability in
the market.
Participation in the PV Alliance. PWF is a 40% partner in the PV Alliance joint venture along with EDF Energies Nouvelles Reparties (“EDF”)
and CEA Valorisation. The PVA contemplates: (i) research to improve the efficiency of both polysilicon and UMG-Si solar cells; and
(ii) potential expansion in France through one or more 100 megawatt (“MW”) facilities. Management believes that the PVA provides PWF with
access to research and potential technology improvements more quickly than could be developed on its own.
Established market positions and relationships. PWF has successfully sold solar products in Europe for 30 years. It has established
market positions in several Western European countries that have well developed and growing solar markets, including Germany, which is
currently the world’s largest market for solar power. PWF is also developing a presence in emerging growth markets for solar power in
Europe, including France, Spain, and Portugal. Management believes PWF has well-established relationships with key distributors and
installers and that PWF is differentiated from competitors by timely delivery as a result of its vertical integration, technical expertise and
reputation for producing quality solar modules at competitive price and efficiency levels.
PWF Business Strategy: Fiscal 2010
The Company intends to position PWF to eventually become a standalone company through the following strategies:
Strengthen leadership and prepare for separation. To drive consistent performance and prepare PWF for separation, management
intends to:
k

Assess all levels of management: In fiscal 2010, the Company will perform a corporate-led assessment of management to strengthen
leadership at all levels;

k

Advance the PV Alliance: In fiscal 2010, a 25 MW cell line will be established at PWF in order to improve and test cell efficiency. PWF
and EDF each have first right of refusal for 50% of the commercial output. The intended benefit of this initial research phase is the
potential increase in cell efficiency by up to 2%. Upon successful completion of this initial research phase, further research phases are
contemplated.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Reduce manufacturing costs and improve cell efficiency. To improve profitability and increase competitiveness in the solar industry,
management intends to:
k

Secure appropriate silicon feedstock: In order to support further capacity expansion, PWF requires appropriate secure access to
UMG-Si and/or polysilicon. Management believes that it has, at the present time, an opportunity to secure additional feedstock at
favourable market conditions.

k

Increase cell efficiency: During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, UMG-Si average cell efficiency improved to approximately 14.3% from
13.5% a year earlier. PWF intends to continue to invest in research and development during fiscal 2010, with the objective of increasing
cell efficiency by 0.5% every six-months. Management believes that increases in cell efficiency result in more watts to sell at a given level
of production and therefore directly translate into higher operating earnings;

k

Utilize supply chain: In order to maximize PWF’s output capabilities, the Company has entered into supply arrangements whereby third
parties will supplement PWF’s production capacity in the areas of cell and module production to increase the total output PWF can
achieve from its current silicon supply agreements;

k

Partner with ASG to improve operations: Solar automation experts from the Company’s ASG segment will continue to work with
PWF with a mandate to develop process improvements, reduce PWF’s manufacturing costs and increase output;

k

Reduce overhead costs: Management has set targets to reduce total overhead costs and align PWF’s cost structure with current
market demand.

Increase system sales and investigate potential downstream alternatives:
k

PV Alliance/downstream: As PWF secures appropriate silicon supply, it will seek to secure agreements with customers to expand
output, which may include strategic downstream relationships and/or further development of the PVA;

k

System sales: PWF will seek to increase system sales and participate in solar installation projects in order to improve order-flow and
increase revenues.

Management believes that the pre-requisites for PWF to become a standalone company are: stable profitability, increased utilization of the
current PWF facility, and appropriate silicon supply.
Overview of Fiscal 2009
During fiscal 2009, PWF continued to improve operating performance and secure silicon supply agreements and customer sales
agreements. During the year, PWF:
k

Increased MWs sold by 24% year-over-year to 54.2 MWs;

k

Realized significant cell efficiency improvements with UMG-Si products. Cell efficiency improved from 13.5% in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 to 14.3% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009;

k

Invested approximately c20 million in manufacturing equipment, to balance production, increase capacity and reduce manufacturing
costs in the ingot, wafer and cell stages of production. Management has committed to a further c4 million investment in automation
equipment that will be supplied by ASG;

k

Utilized its supply chain to increase overall MWs produced thereby partially offsetting the impact of its traditional summer plant shut-down;

k

Maintained flexibility in new silicon supply agreements to take advantage of favourable commercial terms in light of lower current demand
in the market for solar products.

Photowatt Technologies Revenue

(in millions of dollars, except employment)

Q4 2009

Q4 2008

2009

2008

Photowatt France
Other Solar

$

48.2
—

$

61.4
(0.1)

$

269.8
—

$

196.6
2.0

Total Revenue

$

48.2

$

61.3

$

269.8

$

198.6

$

13.3
33.7
1.2

$

24.6
36.7
—

$

88.6
180.0
1.2

$

101.8
96.8
—

$

48.2

$

61.3

$

269.8

$

198.6

Revenue by Product
Polysilicon products
UMG-Si products
Other
Total Revenue
Employees at year end
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Fourth Quarter Revenue
Photowatt Technologies’ fourth quarter revenue of $48.2 million was 21% lower than in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. Lower year-overyear revenues primarily reflected a 29% decrease in total MWs sold at PWF to 9.3 MWs from 13.1 MWs in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.
Lower MWs sold resulted from lower demand due to tighter credit markets, which restricted funding available for solar projects and a general
reluctance on the part of customers to commit to new orders until the solar market and average selling prices stabilize. Decreases in average
selling prices per watt also had a negative impact on total revenues, partially offset by an increase in systems sales. PWF increased revenue
from the sale of module Systems to approximately $12.5 million from $9.1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.
Total UMG-Si products represented $33.7 million of fiscal 2009 fourth quarter revenue compared to $36.7 million a year ago. Average cell
efficiency was improved in the fourth quarter to approximately 14.3% for UMG-Si cells, compared to approximately 13.5% during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008. Revenue from polysilicon products was $13.3 million in the fourth quarter, compared to $24.6 million in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008. Average polysilicon cell efficiency decreased in the fourth quarter to approximately 15.4%, compared to approximately
15.6% during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 due to increased purchases of externally produced lower efficiency wafers. “Other” revenue
included PWF technology licensing fees from the PVA.
Foreign exchange rate changes positively impacted PWF fourth quarter revenues compared to the fourth quarter a year ago by an estimated
$3.7 million on translation primarily reflecting a stronger Euro relative to the Canadian dollar.
Full Year Revenue
For the year ended March 31, 2009, revenues increased 36% compared to fiscal 2008. Higher revenues reflected an increase in total MWs
sold at Photowatt France to 54.2 MWs in fiscal 2009 from 43.6 MWs in fiscal 2008, partially offset by lower year-over-year average selling
prices.
Photowatt France’s annual revenue reflects the change in revenue mix from polysilicon products to products made from UMG-Si. Total
UMG-Si products represented $180.0 million of fiscal 2009 revenue compared to $96.8 million a year ago. Annual revenue from polysilicon
products was $88.6 million in fiscal 2009, compared to $101.8 million in fiscal 2008. UMG-Si products are typically sold at a discount to
polysilicon products.
Foreign exchange rate changes positively impacted Photowatt Technologies’ fiscal 2009 revenues compared to fiscal 2008 by an estimated
$22.2 million on translation, primarily reflecting a stronger Euro relative to the Canadian dollar.
Photowatt Technologies Operating Results (in millions of dollars)
Q4 2009

Q4 2008

2009

2008

Operating Earnings (Loss):
Photowatt France

$

Other Solar
Photowatt Technologies Operating Earnings (Loss)

$

Photowatt France EBITDA
Operating earnings (loss)

$

Depreciation and amortization
Photowatt France EBITDA

1.0

$

(0.3)
0.7

$

1.0

$

4.2
$

5.2

3.3

$

15.9
19.2

$

3.3

$

6.8

$

3.7

3.5
$

20.8
24.5

$

20.8

$

15.7
$

36.5

(6.9)
10.1
3.2

(6.9)
13.2

$

6.3

Fourth Quarter Operating Earnings
Photowatt Technologies had operating earnings of $0.7 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 compared to operating earnings of
$19.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2008.
Fiscal 2009 fourth quarter earnings from operations for PWF were $1.0 million (operating margin of 2%), compared to earnings from
operations of $3.3 million (operating margin of 5%) in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. The year-over-year decline in operating earnings
reflected lower MWs sold, partially offset by improved cell efficiency and manufacturing yields. Fourth quarter operating earnings in fiscal
2009 included insurance proceeds of $1.1 million associated with a claim filed in fiscal 2007, which was settled during the quarter.
PWF’s operating earnings included approximately $0.6 million of costs related to its investment in PVA. PVA includes Lab-Fab, a research
initiative to improve cell efficiency.
PWF’s amortization expense increased $0.7 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 reflecting additional depreciation and amortization
from expansion and improvement initiatives.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
The estimated effect of changes in foreign exchange rates increased the fourth quarter fiscal 2009 operating earnings by $0.7 million
compared to the fourth quarter fiscal 2008.
“Other Solar” includes Spheral Solar, Photowatt U.S.A. and inter-solar eliminations. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, costs were
incurred related to equipment decommissioning and preparation for sale. A year ago, fourth quarter operating earnings included a gain of
$16.8 million on the sale on non-solar grade silicon that had a nominal carrying value. This gain more than offset costs associated with
winding down these operations.
Full Year Operating Earnings
Photowatt Technologies had operating earnings of $24.5 million in fiscal 2009 compared to operating earnings of $3.2 million in fiscal 2008.
PWF earnings from operations were $20.8 million in fiscal 2009 compared to an operating loss of $6.9 million in fiscal 2008. Operating
profitability increased during fiscal 2009 compared to a year ago on revenue growth and operational improvements to increase cell efficiency,
utilization of the supply chain to increase output and improved manufacturing yields.
Foreign exchange positively impacted PWF earnings from operations by an estimated $1.9 million compared to the same period a year ago,
primarily reflecting a stronger Euro relative to the Canadian dollar.
Fiscal 2009 “Other Solar” earnings from operations included a gain of $2.0 million on the sale of silicon (not usable by PWF or Spheral Solar)
that had a nominal carrying value ($16.8 million gain in fiscal 2008). This completed the sales transaction initiated in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008. Also included in fiscal 2009 earnings from operations was a gain of $3.2 million on the sale of the redundant Spheral Solar building in
Cambridge, Canada. The remaining expenses primarily related to the wind down and closure of the Spheral Solar facility and other clean up
and equipment decommissioning costs. Included in fiscal 2008 loss from operations was the loss from operations from the now closed
Photowatt U.S.A. division, the loss from operations from the halted Spheral Solar research initiative and solar corporate costs and inter-solar
eliminations.
Photowatt France Outlook
Global electricity usage is expected to increase. As demand for electricity continues to increase, the electric power industry is facing several
challenges including: fossil fuel supply constraints and the resulting increase in prices for fossil fuels; electricity generation, transmission and
distribution infrastructure constraints; political and economic instability in many key oil and natural gas-producing regions; and
environmental issues related to fossil fuels. Management believes these factors provide a positive long-term outlook for solar energy
businesses.
The development and increased usage of solar power is, and for the foreseeable future will be affected by and largely dependant on, the
existence of government incentives. Countries in which PWF sells products such as Germany, France, Spain and Portugal have significant
government subsidy programs for solar power. Certain jurisdictions, such as Spain and Germany, have subsidy programs that are designed
to decline over time. Reductions in feed-in tariffs and caps in certain jurisdictions were implemented in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 and
have had a negative impact on demand and average selling prices per watt. Management believes PWF’s average selling prices per watt will
continue to be negatively impacted by these trends in fiscal 2010.
Tightening in the global credit markets has reduced available funding for solar installation projects. The resulting reduction in demand for
solar modules, in addition to increased global module capacity in the solar industry, could result in sustained over-supply in fiscal 2010. This
is expected to negatively impact PWF. Accordingly, management halted production for a three-week period in the first quarter of fiscal 2010.
To keep PWF cost competitive, management is considering a plan to reduce the cost structure which may cost up to $10 million.
Management is actively monitoring the changing market conditions and will continue to modify plans accordingly.
Management expects improvements in cell efficiency, manufacturing yields and throughput will reduce PWF’s direct manufacturing cost per
watt, however these expected gains will be offset by lower output and the three-week shut-down in production in the first quarter of fiscal
2010. Given market prices for polysilicon and availability of polysilicon modules at UMG-Si prices, management is rebalancing production
towards polysilicon. Management does not know to what extent planned reductions in cost per watt will offset the impact of declines in
average selling prices on operating earnings. Management is investigating downstream alternatives to create an additional market for PWF’s
products and lock in average selling prices for a larger portion of fiscal 2010 sales. PWF will continue to combine process, automation and
production knowledge for both UMG-Si and polysilicon products with the goal of achieving desirable results that can be replicated and/or
sold in France.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS
Summary of Consolidated Quarterly Data

(in thousands of dollars, except per share data)

Fiscal 2009

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Revenue

$

212,071

$

219,536

$

221,739

$

201,774

Earnings from operations
Net income from continuing operations

$
$

16,278
14,991

$
$

13,563
12,688

$
$

18,472
15,814

$
$

17,743
14,041

Earnings per share from continuing operations, basic

$

0.19

$

0.16

$

0.20

$

0.17

Earnings per share from continuing operations, diluted
Net income

$
$

0.19
12,930

$
$

0.16
9,272

$
$

0.20
12,316

$
$

0.16
13,506

Earnings per share, basic

$

0.17

$

0.12

$

0.16

$

0.16

Earnings per share, diluted

$

0.17

$

0.12

$

0.16

$

0.15

Fiscal 2008

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Revenue

$

155,407

$

146,931

$

174,457

$

186,474

Earnings (loss) from operations
Net income (loss) from continuing operations

$
$

(6,783)
(7,058)

$
$

(16,913)
(15,492)

$
$

24,426
24,365

$
$

8,183
10,343

diluted
Net income (loss)

$
$

(0.12)
(8,937)

$
$

(0.23)
(18,763)

$
$

0.32
(3,662)

$
$

0.13
7,939

Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

$

(0.15)

$

(0.28)

$

(0.05)

$

0.10

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations, basic and

ATS typically experiences some seasonality with its revenue and earnings due to summer plant shutdowns by its customers and the annual
summer shutdown at PWF.
Fourth Quarter Consolidated Results
Fourth quarter fiscal 2009 revenue from continuing operations was $201.8 million, $15.3 million or 8% higher than the same period a year
earlier. This increase primarily reflected a 23% increase in ASG revenue, which was partially offset by a 21% decrease in Photowatt revenues.
Changes in effective foreign exchange rates increased consolidated revenue by an estimated $19.4 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009
compared to fiscal 2008.
Fourth quarter consolidated earnings from operations was $17.7 million, compared to $8.2 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. The
increase primarily reflected a $24.0 million increase in ASG earnings from operations and a $4.0 million decrease in corporate and
intersegment elimination expenses, offset by a $18.5 million decrease in Photowatt Technologies’ earnings from operations. Fourth quarter
earnings from operations in fiscal 2008 included a gain of $16.8 million on the sale of silicon not usable by PWF. Changes in effective foreign
exchange rates increased consolidated operating earnings for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 by an estimated
$1.9 million.
Selected Annual Information

(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Fiscal 2009

Fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2007

Revenue
Earnings (loss) from operations

$
$

855.1
66.1

$
$

663.3
8.9

$
$

614.5
(39.3)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

$

57.5

$

12.2

$

(76.7)

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations — basic
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations — diluted

$
$

0.73
0.72

$
$

0.17
0.17

$
$

(1.28)
(1.28)

Net income (loss)

$

48.0

$

(23.4)

$

(85.0)

Net earnings (loss) per share — basic

$

0.61

$

(0.33)

$

(1.42)

Net earnings (loss) per share — diluted
Total assets

$
$

0.60
836.1

$
$

(0.33)
678.0

$
$

(1.42)
601.1

Total cash and short-term investments

$

154.3

$

56.8

$

25.6

Total bank debt and capital lease obligations

$

35.8

$

28.8

$

76.7
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Annual Consolidated Revenue
For fiscal 2009, revenue from continuing operations was $855.1 million, 29% higher than a year earlier. This increase primarily reflected a
36% increase in Photowatt Technologies revenue on higher MWs produced and sold during fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. Fiscal 2009
ASG revenue increased by 27% primarily on higher opening Order Backlog and higher Order Bookings during the fiscal year. Changes in
effective foreign exchange rates increased consolidated revenue by an estimated $44.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2009 compared
to fiscal 2008, primarily on translation of foreign subsidiaries.
Annual Cost of Sales
Cost of sales increased on a consolidated basis by $113.3 million or 19% to $708.0 million. The related improvement in gross margin from
10% in fiscal 2008 to 17% in fiscal 2009 reflects higher revenue, improved program management within ASG, cost reductions implemented
in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 as well as cell efficiency gains and cost per watt reductions at PWF.
Annual Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses
Consolidated SG&A expenses for fiscal 2009 decreased 19% or $20.0 million to $83.9 million compared to the prior year period. SG&A
expenses for fiscal 2009 included $5.9 million of Company-wide severance and restructuring costs, $1.8 million of costs related to the Credit
Agreement signed in fiscal 2009 and higher profit sharing and employee performance incentives on increased operating earnings. These
costs were partially offset by the recovery of a previously written-off receivable at PWF of $1.4 million and insurance proceeds of $1.1 million
associated with a claim filed in fiscal 2007, which was settled during fiscal 2009. Fiscal 2008 SG&A expenses included severance and
restructuring costs of $18.8 million, $2.5 million related to the change in the Board of Directors and senior management and $4.2 million
related to a customer dispute in Photowatt.
Annual Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation cost decreased $1.9 million in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. The decrease reflected higher costs
incurred in fiscal 2008, including $1.3 million of costs associated with performance options which vested in the fourth quarter of the prior year
and the recognition of $1.2 million in expenses in fiscal 2008 related to the accelerated vesting of options of certain former officers of the
Company who resigned in the second quarter of fiscal 2008. This decrease in costs was partially offset by increased expenses related to
performance-based stock options granted during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2008.
The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated assumed
vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the Company’s stock price trading at or above a volume weighted average
stock price performance threshold for a specified minimum number of trading days, the options vest. When the performance-based options
vest, the Company is required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated with the vested stock options in the period in
which they vest. At March 31, 2009, the following performance-based stock options were un-vested:
In thousands of dollars
Stock price
performance
threshold

Number of
options
outstanding

Grant date
value per
option

Current
year
expense
$

Remaining
expense to
recognize

$5.49

41,666

1.66

3.6 years

2

$ 67

$7.49
$8.41

41,667
266,667

1.66
2.11

4.9 years
2.1 years

1
217

68
347

$8.50

889,333

1.41

3.6 years

252

899

$9.08
$9.49

218,666
41,667

2.77
1.66

1.5 years
5.6 years

220
1

330
68

$10.41

266,667

2.11

3.5 years

153

411

$10.50
$11.08

889,333
218,667

1.41
2.77

4.5 years
2.8 years

213
151

953
416

$12.41

266,666

2.11

4.5 years

125

439

$13.08

218,667

2.77

3.8 years

121

454

$13.72
$15.09

5,290
5,290

3.68
3.68

0.0 years
0.3 years

5
10

—
1

$16.60

5,290

3.68

1.0 years

8

5

$18.27
$19.87

8,636
8,636

4.42
4.42

0.0 years
0.0 years

—
10

—
—
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Gains on Sale
Gain on sale of portfolio investments: During the third quarter of fiscal 2008, the Company sold a portfolio investment for a gain of
$31.8 million.
Gain on sale of silicon: During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company completed delivery to a
third party of silicon that was not usable by PWF or Spheral Solar. The silicon had a nominal carrying value and the Company recognized a
gain of $16.8 million and $2.0 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and first quarter of fiscal 2009 respectively.
Gain on sale of building: During the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company completed the sale of the redundant Spheral Solar building in
Cambridge, Canada for net proceeds of $16.0 million. A net gain of $3.2 million was realized on the sale.
Annual Earnings from Operations
Consolidated earnings from operations were $66.1 million in fiscal 2009, compared to earnings from operations of $8.9 million in fiscal 2008.
The improvement in earnings from operations reflected higher revenues, operational improvements made in both of the Company’s
operating segments, cost reductions implemented in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and during fiscal 2009 and one-time gains related to
the sale of non-solar grade silicon and the Spheral Solar building of $2.0 million and $3.2 million respectively. Fiscal 2008 earnings from
operations reflected the $31.8 million gain on sale of the Company’s investment in shares of Canadian Solar Inc. and the $16.8 million gain on
sale of non-solar grade silicon. Changes in effective foreign exchange rates reduced consolidated operating earnings for the year ended
March 31, 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 by an estimated $0.7 million.
Interest on Long-Term Debt and Other Interest
Decreased interest expense for the year ended March 31, 2009 reflected lower usage of the Company’s credit facilities compared to fiscal
2008. Lower other interest income reflected lower interest rates, partially offset by increased cash balances in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal
2008.
Provision for Income Taxes
In fiscal 2009, the Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate of
33.4% (in fiscal 2008 the combined rate was 35.5%) primarily as a result of the utilization of unrecognized loss carryforwards in Canada and
parts of Europe. In fiscal 2008, the Company’s effective income tax rate differed from the combined Canadian basic federal and provincial
income tax rate primarily as a result of losses incurred in Canada and Europe, the benefit of which was not recognized in net income.
Loss from Discontinued Operations
In fiscal 2008, the Company determined that the Precision Components Group was not strategic to the Company and committed to a plan to
divest PCG. During fiscal 2009, the Company sold the key operating assets and liabilities, including equipment, current assets, trade
accounts payable and certain other assets and liabilities of PCG for cash proceeds of $4.3 million and promissory notes with a face value of
$2.7 million. This transaction was completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. Accordingly, the results of operations have been segregated
and presented separately as discontinued operations.
The loss from discontinued operations for fiscal 2009 was $9.5 million, compared to a loss of $35.6 million a year ago. The loss in fiscal 2008
included non-cash impairment charges of $19.1 million and valuation allowances of $4.2 million and $0.7 million against inventories and
accounts receivable respectively, to write-down these assets to their net realizable value. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further details on discontinued operations.
Net Income (Loss)
Net income for fiscal 2009 was $48.0 million ($0.61 basic per share and $0.60 diluted per share) compared to a net loss of $23.4 million
($0.33 basic and diluted per share) for fiscal 2008.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS

(in millions of dollars)

Fiscal 2009

Fiscal 2008

Investments — increase (decrease)
Non-cash operating working capital

$

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment acquired via capital lease
Acquisition of subsidiary

(1.4)

$

(4.9)

12.4
21.6

21.8
—

—

3.8

2.3
—

—
(31.9)

Other long-term investments

15.4

29.1

Disposal of assets
Disposal of assets held for sale

(16.2)
(3.9)

(0.8)
—

Acquisition of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of portfolio investment

Total net investments

$

30.2

$

17.1

In fiscal 2009, the Company’s investment in non-cash operating working capital decreased $1.4 million or 1% on a 29% increase in
revenues. Accounts receivable decreased by 4% or $5.6 million from March 31, 2008, driven by improved accounts receivable collections.
Net contracts in progress decreased 20% or $10.9 million from March 31, 2008 due to improved billing terms on customer contracts.
Inventories increased by 47% or $43.8 million on higher raw material and finished good inventories in PWF and APG. Deposits and prepaid
assets decreased by 7% or $1.2 million from March 31, 2008 due to lower deposits on long lead-time materials. Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities increased by 16% or $23.8 million from March 31, 2008 on higher purchases and improved supplier payment terms.
Property, plant and equipment expenditures totaled $34.0 million in fiscal 2009, of which $21.6 million was acquired under capital leases.
Expenditures at PWF totalling $28.6 million were primarily used to increase PWF’s ingot manufacturing capacity. Total ASG property, plant
and equipment expenditures of $2.7 million in fiscal 2009 were primarily for production and information technology equipment.
During fiscal 2008, the Company acquired an additional 6% ownership in one of its subsidiaries in the Photowatt Technologies’ segment for
cash consideration of $3.8 million. This resulted in an increase in the Company’s goodwill of $2.0 million and a decrease in the noncontrolling interest in this subsidiary of $1.8 million. The Company now owns 100% of this subsidiary. See Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further acquisition-related activity.
Acquisition of intangible assets of $2.3 million in fiscal 2009 primarily related to the Company’s proportion of technology licenses acquired by
its joint venture, PV Alliance.
During fiscal 2008, the Company sold its portfolio investment in Canadian Solar Inc., a publicly-traded company on the NASDAQ exchange,
for cash proceeds of $31.9 million and recognized a gain of $31.8 million.
The Company’s fiscal 2009 expenditures in other long-term investments primarily represented silicon deposits made with suppliers for the
future delivery of silicon for PWF. The deposits represented advance payments which will be applied against the price of future product
received.
The increase in proceeds from asset disposals in fiscal 2009 related to the sale of the Company’s redundant Spheral Solar building in
Cambridge, Canada for net proceeds of $16.0 million. Additionally, the Company completed the sale of the key operating assets and
liabilities of its PCG segment for net proceeds of $3.9 million in fiscal 2009.
The Company performs impairment tests on its goodwill balances on an annual basis or as warranted by events or circumstances. The
Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 and has determined there is no
impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2009 (2008 — nil).
All of the Company’s investments involve risks and require that the Company make judgments and estimates regarding the likelihood of
recovery of the respective costs. In the event management determines that any of the Company’s investments have become permanently
impaired or recovery is no longer reasonably assured, the value of the investment would be written down to its estimated net realizable value
as a charge against earnings. Due to the magnitude of certain investments, such write downs could be material.
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LIQUIDITY, CASH FLOW AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Cash, Leverage and Cash Flow from Operations

(in millions of dollars, except ratios)

Fiscal 2009
Year-end cash and short-term investments
Year-end debt-to-equity ratio
Cash flow provided by (used in) operations

$

154.3

$

0.1:1
73.2

Fiscal 2008
$

56.8

$

0.1:1
(6.2)

Fiscal 2007
$

25.6

$

0.2:1
(7.5)

At March 31, 2009, the Company had cash and short-term investments of $154.3 million compared to $56.8 million a year ago. In fiscal
2009, cash provided by operations was $73.2 million compared to cash used in operations of $6.2 million in fiscal 2008. The Company’s
total debt to equity ratio (excluding Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income) at March 31, 2009 was 0.1:1. At March 31, 2009 the
Company had $88.1 million of unutilized credit available under existing operating and long-term credit facilities and a further $20.0 million
available under a letter of credit facility.
In fiscal 2009, the Company completed a public offering of 10 million common shares to raise gross proceeds of $50 million. The net
proceeds of $46.8 million improved the Company’s financial flexibility and will be used to pursue strategic opportunities, and for working
capital and general corporate purposes.
In fiscal 2008, the Company completed a rights offering, raising gross proceeds of $110.2 million (net proceeds of $102.5 million). In total,
ATS received subscriptions for 16,011,247 common shares. Under the Additional Subscription Privilege, 1,678,903 shares were purchased.
During fiscal 2009, PWF established credit facilities of c36.2 million, through short and long-term debt agreements and capital lease
agreements. The interest rates applicable to the credit facilities range from Euribor plus 0.5% to Euribor plus 1.8% and 4.9% per annum.
Certain of the credit facilities are secured by certain assets of Photowatt International S.A.S and are subject to debt leverage tests.
In fiscal 2009, the Company established a new primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) with total credit facilities of up to $85 million,
comprised of an operating credit facility of $40 million which, after the Company has met certain conditions, increases by $5 million in
monthly increments up to $65 million and a letter of credit facility of up to $20 million for certain purposes. As of March 31, 2009, the
Company has met conditions to access $65 million of available operating credit facilities under the Credit Agreement. The operating credit
facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the outstanding funds advanced under the facility can be used to fund certain
subsidiaries of the Company. The Credit Agreement, which is secured by the assets, including real estate, of the Company’s North American
legal entities and a pledge of shares and guarantees from certain of the Company’s legal entities, is repayable in full on October 31, 2009.
The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letter of credit for certain purposes and/or
bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBOR advances. The interest rates applicable to the
operating credit facility are determined based on certain financial ratios. For prime rate advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is
equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in Canada, respectively, plus 1.25% to 2.25%. For bankers’ acceptances
and LIBOR advances, the interest rate is equal to the bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBOR, respectively, plus 2.25% to 3.25%.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a standby fee on the un-advanced portions of the amounts available for advance or drawdown under the credit facilities at a rate of 0.5% per annum.
The Credit Agreement is subject to a debt leverage test, a current ratio test, and a cumulative EBITDA test. Under the terms of the Credit
Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The Credit Agreement also restricts
the Company from repurchasing its common shares, paying dividends and from acquiring and disposing of certain assets. The Company is
in compliance with these covenants and restrictions.
The Company has other credit available under short term unsecured credit facilities totalling approximately c1.8 million. The credit facilities
bear interest ranging from 6.0% to Eonia plus 1.25% per annum. A portion of the available credit facilities are secured by a letter of credit. In
May 2009, one of the credit facilities in the amount of c0.5 million expired.
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the Company’s long-term debt and repayment obligations at March 31, 2009.
The Company expects that continued cash flows from operations, together with cash and short-term investments on hand and credit
available under operating and long-term credit facilities, will be more than sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in working capital
and capital assets. Management is currently seeking to secure additional credit facilities to replace the Credit Agreement expiring in October
2009.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Contractual Obligations (in millions of dollars)
Total
Long-term debt
Operating leases

$

Capital leases
Purchase obligations
Other obligations
Total

$

14.6
10.2

Less than
1 year
$

4.1
4.5

1-3 years
$

8.3
5.5

4-5 years
$

1.8
0.2

Beyond
5 years
$

0.4
—

21.1

3.4

7.2

7.8

2.7

641.6
0.1

114.2
0.1

181.0
—

114.6
—

231.8
—

687.6

$ 126.3

$ 202.0

$ 124.4

$ 234.9

The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consist of silicon supply commitments, other materials purchase commitments, various
operating lease financing arrangements related primarily to facilities and equipment, capital lease obligation arrangements for production
equipment, and derivative financial instruments which have been entered into in the normal course of business. There are no other significant
off-balance sheet arrangements that management believes will have a material effect on the results of operations or liquidity.
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than its functional currency of the Canadian
dollar. The Company’s Canadian operations generate significant revenues in major foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which exceed
the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage a portion of this net foreign currency
exposure, the Company has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts. The timing and amount of these forward foreign exchange
contracts are estimated based on existing customer contracts on hand or anticipated, anticipated shipment volumes, current conditions in
the Company’s markets and the Company’s past experience. In addition, from time to time, the Company enters forward foreign exchange
contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk arising from certain inter-company loans and net investments in certain self-sustaining
subsidiaries.
The Company does not use hedging to speculate, but rather as a risk management tool.
The Company is exposed to credit risk on derivative financial instruments arising from the potential for counterparties to default on their
contractual obligations to the Company. The Company minimizes this risk by limiting counterparties to major financial institutions and
monitoring their creditworthiness. The Company’s credit exposure to forward foreign exchange contracts is the current replacement value of
contracts that are in a gain position.
For further information related to the Company’s use of derivative financial instruments refer to Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
As of June 9, 2009, the Company had 87,277,155 common shares and 6,104,090 stock options to acquire common shares of the
Company outstanding.
Impact of Foreign Exchange
A decline in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar and the Euro had a positive impact on the Company’s revenue, and a
negative impact on operating earnings and net income in fiscal 2009. ATS follows a transaction hedging program to help mitigate the impact
of short-term foreign currency movements, primarily in its Canadian operations which often transact business in U.S. dollars. This hedging
activity consists primarily of forward foreign exchange contracts for the sale of U.S. dollars. Purchasing third-party goods and services in
U.S. dollars by Canadian operations also acts as a partial offset to U.S. dollar exposure. Management estimates that its forward foreign
exchange contract hedging program is primarily effective for movements in currency rates within a four- to six-month period. See Note 4 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for details of the financial instruments outstanding at March 31, 2009.
Year-end actual exchange
rates in CDN$

Period average exchange
rates in CDN$

Currency

March 31, 2009

March 31, 2008

% change

Fiscal 2009

Fiscal 2008

% change

U.S. dollar

1.2374

1.0215

21.1%

1.1265

1.0317

9.2%

Euro

1.6488

1.6046

2.8%

1.5887

1.4604

8.8%

Singapore dollar

0.8185

0.7372

11.0%

0.7800

0.6987

11.6%
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Contracts In Progress and Revenue Recognition for ASG
The nature of ASG contracts requires the use of estimates to quote new business and most automation systems are typically sold on a fixedprice basis. As described in Note 1(d) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, revenue on automation systems and other long-term
contracts is recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, which requires management to exercise significant
judgment in estimating the future costs of completing individual contracts over the life of the contract. If the actual costs incurred by the
Company to complete a contract are significantly higher than estimated, the Company’s earnings may be negatively affected. The use of
estimates involves risks, since the work to be performed involves varying degrees of technical uncertainty, including possible development
work to meet the customer’s specification, the extent of which is sometimes not determinable until after the project has been awarded. In the
event the Company is unable to meet the defined performance specification for a contracted automation system, it may need to redesign
and rebuild all or a portion of the system at its expense without further increase in the selling price. Certain contracts may have provisions that
reduce the selling price if the Company fails to deliver or complete the contract by specified dates. These provisions may expose the
Company to contingent liabilities.
ASG’s contracts may be terminated by customers in the event of a default by the Company or for the convenience of the customer. In the
event of a termination for convenience, the Company must typically negotiate a settlement reflective of the progress achieved on the contract
and/or the costs incurred to the termination date. If a contract is cancelled, Order Backlog is reduced and production utilization may be
negatively impacted.
Complete provision, which can be significant, is made for losses on such contracts when such losses first become known. Revisions in
estimates of costs and profits on contracts, which can also be significant, are recorded in the accounting period in which the relevant facts
impacting the estimates become known.
APG revenue is recognized when earned, which is generally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to the customer, providing collection
is reasonably assured.
Revenue Recognition for Photowatt Technologies
As described in Note 1(d) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Photowatt Technologies’ revenue is generally recognized when earned,
which is normally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to the customer, providing collection is reasonably assured. While the Company
may enter into long-term sales contracts, many sales are made on the basis of individual orders, as is customary in the industry. This can
increase revenue volatility because shipment volumes may vary depending on customer demand.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill
As described in Note 1(g) through Note 1(i) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, long-lived assets such as property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Judgment is involved in determining expected future cash flows that will be generated by the long-lived assets.
During the year ended March 31, 2009, there was no write down of intangible assets (nil in fiscal 2008).
In connection with business acquisitions completed by the Company, management identifies and estimates the fair value of the net assets
acquired, including certain identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill and liabilities assumed in the acquisitions. Any excess of the
purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired is assigned to goodwill. As described in Note 1(g) to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis.
Valuation of Future Income Tax Assets and Investment Tax Credits
As described in Note 1(j) and Note 1(k) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company’s future income tax asset balance represents
temporary differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities including research and development costs and
incentives, property, plant and equipment, asset impairment charges not yet deductible and operating loss carry-forwards, net of valuation
allowances. The Company considers both positive evidence and negative evidence to determine whether, based upon the weight of that
evidence, a valuation allowance is required. Judgment is required in considering the relative impact of negative and positive evidence. The
Company records a valuation allowance to reduce future income tax assets and investment tax credits to the amount that is more likely than
not to be realized. Should the Company determine that it is more likely than not that it will not be able to realize all or part of its future income
tax assets in future fiscal periods, the valuation allowance would be increased, resulting in a decrease to net income in the reporting periods
in which management makes such determinations.
Investment tax credits and government assistance are accounted for as a reduction in the cost of the related asset or expense when there is
reasonable assurance that such credits or assistance will be realized.
In addition, during fiscal 2009, a provision was recorded against the Company’s investment tax credits in the amount of $7.8 million
($10.2 million in fiscal 2008).
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the basis of accounting and the Company’s significant accounting policies.
Changes in Accounting Policies
Effective April 1, 2008, the Company prospectively adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook
Section 3031 “Inventories” with no restatement of prior periods. This CICA Handbook Section requires that inventories are measured
at the lower of cost or net realizable value and provides more extensive guidance on the determination of cost, including the allocation of
overhead. The Section also allows for the write-up of subsequent increases in net realizable value of previously impaired inventory and
expands the disclosure requirements. There was no material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements on the adoption of the
standard. See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
In February 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”. This new standard replaces Handbook
Section 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and Handbook Section 3450 “Research and Development Costs”. The standard
introduces guidance for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets including internally
generated intangible assets. This standard is effective for interim and annual financial statements for the Company’s reporting period
beginning on April 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of this new section.
International Financial Reporting Standards
The CICA’s Accounting Standards Board has announced that Canadian publicly-accountable enterprises will adopt International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board effective January 1, 2011. Although IFRS uses a
conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, differences in accounting policies and additional required disclosures will need to be
addressed.
The Company commenced its IFRS conversion project in fiscal 2009. The project consists of four phases: diagnostic; design and planning;
solution development; and implementation. The diagnostic phase was completed in fiscal 2009 with the assistance of external advisors. This
work involved a high-level review of the major differences between current Canadian GAAP and IFRS and a preliminary assessment of the
impact of those differences on the Company’s accounting and financial reporting, systems and other business processes. The areas of
highest potential impact include: property, plant and equipment; provisions and contingencies; and IFRS 1: first time adoption, as well as the
more extensive presentation and disclosure requirements under IFRS. Until accounting policy choices are made during the solution
development phase, the Company will be unable to quantify the impact of IFRS on its Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Company has completed the design and planning phase of its IFRS conversion plan. The Company has established a core
implementation team and steering committee comprised of members of senior management. In addition, the IFRS conversion project
strategy, governance structure and schedule has been implemented. In early fiscal 2010, the Company commenced the solution
development phase, which will include detailed review of all relevant IFRS standards, selection of new accounting policies where
applicable, including IFRS 1 transition date first time adoption exemptions, development of model IFRS financial statements,
identification of information gaps and necessary changes in reporting, processes and systems, development of a process to prepare
IFRS comparative information and further training to employees.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Certain of the directors and former directors of the Company are related to Mason Capital Management, LLC and Goodwood Inc. In fiscal
2008, the Company reimbursed $0.5 million of proxy circular-related costs incurred in connection with the election of the new Board of
Directors.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting for the Company.
Disclosure controls and procedures
An evaluation of the design of and operating effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures was conducted as of
March 31, 2009 under the supervision of the CEO and CFO as required by CSA Multilateral Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in
Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. The evaluation included documentation, review, enquiries and other procedures considered appropriate
in the circumstances. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have concluded that, other than as discussed below under “Internal
control over financial reporting,” the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that
information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries that is required to be disclosed in reports filed under provincial and
territorial securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported to senior management, including the CEO and the CFO, so
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that appropriate decisions can be made by them regarding required disclosure within the time periods specified in the provincial and
territorial securities legislation.
Internal control over financial reporting
CSA Multilateral Instrument 52-109 requires the CEO and CFO to certify that they are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal
control over financial reporting for the Company, that those internal controls have been designed and are effective in providing reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The
CEO and CFO are also responsible for disclosing any changes to the Company’s internal controls during the most recent interim period that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.
Management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls or internal controls over financial
reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud or will be effective under all potential future conditions. A control system is subject to
inherent limitations and, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control
systems objectives will be met.
The CEO and CFO have, using the framework and criteria established in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls over financial reporting and concluded that, as of March 31, 2009, and subject to the inherent limitations described above,
internal controls over financial reporting were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information related to consolidated results and
decisions to be made based on those results were appropriate.
Management had previously identified that its subsidiary, PWF, had weaknesses in its internal controls as a result of a lack of sufficient finance
personnel with appropriate levels of accounting and internal controls knowledge, experience and training. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008,
management appointed qualified and experienced individuals as Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accountant of PWF, and throughout fiscal
2009 management implemented a number of controls and procedures at PWF to mitigate the risk of undetected material errors in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and disclosures. There were no further changes in the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting during the year ended March 31, 2009 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.

OTHER MAJOR CONSIDERATIONS AND RISK FACTORS
Any investment in ATS will be subject to risks inherent to ATS’s business. The following risk factors are discussed in the Company’s Annual
Information Form, which may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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Market volatility;
Strategy execution risks;
Competition risk;
Automation systems pricing and revenue mix risk;
First-time program and production risks;
Automotive market risk;
Cyclicality;
Foreign exchange risk;
International business risks;
Pricing, quality, delivery and volume risk;
Product failure risks;
Risks associated with the solar market;
Availability of raw materials and other manufacturing inputs;
Profitability of Photowatt Technologies and reliance on Photowatt France’s manufacturing facility;
Customer risks;
Reliance of Photowatt Technologies on Government grants;
New product market acceptance, obsolescence, and commercialization risk;
Government subsidies for solar products and regulation of utility sector;
Liquidity and access to capital markets;
Expansion risks;
Availability of human resources and dependence on key personnel;
Intellectual property protection risks;
Risk of infringement of third parties’ intellectual property rights;
Internal controls;
Income and other taxes and uncertain tax liabilities;
Variations in quarterly results;
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
k
k
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k

Share price volatility;
Litigation;
Legislative compliance;
International Financial Reporting Standards;
Dependence on performance of Subsidiaries.

Note to Readers: Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report and management’s discussion and analysis of financial conditions, and results of operations of ATS for the three months
and year ended March 31, 2009 contains certain statements that constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable
securities laws (“forward-looking statements”). Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of ATS, or developments in ATS’s business or in its industry, to differ
materially from the anticipated results, performance, achievements or developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements include all disclosure regarding possible events, conditions or results of operations that is based on
assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action. Forward-looking statements may also include, without limitation, any
statement relating to future events, conditions or circumstances. ATS cautions you not to place undue reliance upon any such forwardlooking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. Forward-looking statements relate to, among other things:
management’s restructuring and overhead reduction plans and initiatives and anticipated costs associated with such initiatives; ATS’s
plans to position its two segments for separation and to offset current global economic weakness; improvement of leadership and spread of
best practices, the strengthening of supply chain management, improvements to approach to market, and the development of strategies to
address the weak global economy; management’s beliefs in relation to ASG competitive strengths and advantages associated with global
presence, size and critical mass, technical skills, capabilities and experience, customer relationships, name and brand recognition,
reputation, and total solutions capabilities; management’s plans and intentions in relation the identification and implementation of best
practices, the elimination of red programs, the establishment of processes to identify, protect and leverage intellectual property, material cost
reduction, standardization of designs and products and internal subcontracting; roll out the revised approach to market for ASG globally in
fiscal 2010 and plans and management expectations related thereto; management’s belief that identification of global ASG customer
accounts, assignment of global account managers and central monitoring and approvals relating to such accounts will benefit ASG and
customers; management’s belief that order bookings from traditional channels to market will continue to decrease; sporadic nature of order
bookings from ASG’s revised approach to market; negative impacts of current global economic recession on markets into which ASG sells
and uncertainty as to duration thereof; reductions in capital spending and program delays by ASG customers in various market segments
and potential for customer financial difficulties; increased risk of bankruptcies and declining consumer demand in the automotive industry
and increasing competitiveness of the solar industry and management’s belief that these developments could negatively impact ASG’s
future operating profitability; evaluation of cash and credit terms in customer proposals; ASG plans to continue consolidation and
restructuring and costs associated with such activity; management’s active monitoring of changing market conditions and potential for
modification to plans; management’s expectation that implementation of strategic initiatives will positively impact ASG operations;
uncertainty as to the extent that current market conditions will offset improvement activity; management’s belief that strengthened
balance sheet, improved approach to market and operational improvements will allow ASG to emerge from the global economic recession in
a strong competitive position; management’s beliefs regarding PWF competitive strengths; PWF flexibility to manufacture using a variety of
feedstock; PWF participation in the PVA; research by the PVA to improve efficiency of both polysilicon and UMG-Si solar cells and potential
expansion in France through one or more 100 MW facilities; management’s belief that the PVA provides PWF with access to research and
potential technology improvements more quickly than could be developed on its own; developing PWF presence in emerging growth
markets for solar power in Europe; intention and requirements to position PWF to become a standalone company; establishment of 25 MW
cell line in connection with PVA to improve and test cell efficiency with intended benefit in of increasing cell efficiency by up to 2% and
contemplation of further research phases once initial phase is complete; management’s belief that it has an opportunity to secure additional
silicon feedstock at favourable market conditions; PWF’s intention to continue to invest in research and development during fiscal 2010 with
the objective of increasing cell efficiency by 0.5% every six-month; management’s belief that increases in cell efficiency directly translate into
higher operating earnings; expectations relating to total PWF output associated with use of third party cell and module producers; work of
ASG experts with PWF with mandate to develop process improvements, reductions in manufacturing costs and increased output; targeted
reductions in total overhead costs at PWF; expansion of PWF output through strategic downstream relationships, further development of the
PVA and other customer agreements; commitment to a further c4 million investment in automation equipment to be supplied by ASG;
advantages associated with flexibility in silicon supply arrangements; management’s belief with respect to the long term outlook for the solar
energy businesses; existence and impact of declining incentives and subsidies in some jurisdictions; management’s belief that reductions in
feed-in tariffs in certain jurisdictions will continue to have a negative impact on PWF’s average selling prices per watt in 2010; possibility of
oversupply in the solar market in fiscal 2010 and management’s expectation that PWF will be negatively impacted thereby; management’s
expectations with respect to reductions in cost per watt and the impact of lower output and the three week shut down of PWF in the first
quarter of 2010; uncertainty as to extent to which planned reductions in cost per watt will be offset by impact of declines in average selling
price; plan to continue to combine process, automation and production knowledge for UMG-Si and polysilicon products with goal of
achieving desirable results that can be replicated and sold in France; use of proceeds of public share offering to pursue strategic
opportunities and for working capital and general corporate purposes; ATS’s expectations with respect to working capital and capital asset
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funding; credit facilities to replace the credit agreement expiring October, 2009; foreign exchange risk, currency fluctuations and the
effectiveness of ATS’s efforts and strategies to minimize risks associated therewith; the introduction, evaluation and adoption of new
accounting policies and standards and the cost, timelines and impacts relating thereto. The risks and uncertainties that may affect forwardlooking statements include, among others: general market performance including capital market conditions and availability and cost of
credit; economic market conditions; impact of factors such as health of automotive customers, financial failure of customers, increased
pricing pressure and possible margin compression; the success or failure of management strategies to address the weak global economy
and weakened financial condition of actual and potential customers; foreign currency and exchange risk; the relative strength of the
Canadian dollar; performance of the market sectors that ATS serves; that the perceived competitive strengths of ASG or PWF do not result in
positive performance; plans to separate ATS’s two segments are hindered or delayed due to commercial, economic or other factors; extent
of market demand for solar products; risks associated with the implementation of restructuring, overhead reduction and other improvement
initiatives at ASG and PWF and achievement of intended outcomes within expected timeframes and budgets; delays or failures to capitalize
in relation to plans to identify, protect and leverage intellectual property and standardize products and designs; potential technical issues,
cost overruns or unexpected costs associated with these initiatives; ability of ATS to identify and execute upon strategic acquisitions; that
some or all of the trends towards automation that ATS believes are attractive dissipate or do not result in increased demand for automation;
that multinational companies withdraw from global manufacturing for business, political, economic or other reasons; that orders from
traditional sources decrease; that ASG’s revised offering and approach to market is not successful in securing future orders for competitive
or other reasons or the planned global rollout of this approach is hindered or delayed; the availability and possible reductions of government
subsidies and incentives for solar products in various jurisdictions; political, labour or supplier disruptions in manufacturing and supply of
silicon; the usefulness or value of existing silicon supplies dissipates due to market conditions or for other reasons; PWF is unable to secure
further acceptable silicon feedstock at favourable prices; reversal of current silicon supply arrangements and negotiation of new supply
arrangements; failure of PWF to benefit from identified flexibility in silicon supply arrangements; possibility that planned reductions in
cost-per-watt will be more than offset by decreases in average selling prices for PWF products; ability of Photowatt to identify downstream
alternatives and lock in favourable average selling prices with their customers; failure of PWF to continue to develop presence in emerging
growth markets in Europe or reversals relating to previous development; ability of PWF or PVA to obtain grants to fund research and
development; potential inability of PVA to achieve improvements in cell efficiency, including problems with the technology or
commercialization thereof; unexpected costs and/or delays in completing the 25 MW PVA cell line and realizing benefits; that potential
expansion through one or more 100 MW lines with PVA or otherwise does not occur or is delayed; slow-down or reversal of progress being
made with the efficiency and cost per watt of solar modules either through PVA research and development efforts or PWF’s independent
efforts; expectations relating to the leverage of PWF output through the use of third party cell and module producers are not met; that
planned factory improvements at PWF are unsuccessful or delayed; ability to effectively implement PVA projects and ability to properly
manage the PVA relationship; the development of superior or alternative technologies to those developed by ATS; the success of
competitors with greater capital and resources in exploiting their technology; market risk for developing technologies; risks relating to legal
proceedings to which ATS is or may becomes a party; exposure to product liability claims of Photowatt Technologies; risks associated with
compliance with existing and new legislation; risks associated with greater than anticipated tax liabilities or expenses; and other risks
detailed from time to time in ATS’s filings with Canadian provincial securities regulators. Material assumptions related to the estimated
payback period for direct investment in the PVA are the securing of government grants and the successful realization of targeted cell
efficiency improvements. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s current plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and
opinions, and ATS does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements should assumptions related to these plans,
estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions change.

June 10, 2009
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The preparation and presentation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of management. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. The consolidated financial statements and other information in this Annual Report include amounts that are based on estimates
and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with
that in the consolidated financial statements, except as described further in the “Non-GAAP Measures” section of Management’s Discussion
and Analysis.
Management maintains appropriate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls which are designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles as further described in the “Controls and Procedures” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management’s responsibilities for financial reporting are overseen by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), which is ultimately responsible for
reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit and
Finance Committee (the “Committee”).
The Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are independent directors. The Committee meets periodically with
management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial
reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities and to review the consolidated financial statements
and the external auditors’ report. The Committee has reported its findings to the Board which has approved the consolidated financial
statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for issuance to shareholders. The Committee also considers, for review by the
Board and approval of shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited on behalf of shareholders by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. The external auditors have full and free access to management and the Committee.

Anthony Caputo

Maria Perrella

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2009 and March 31, 2008 and
the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income and cash flows for the years then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at
March 31, 2009 and March 31, 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Waterloo, Canada
May 29, 2009
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands of dollars)

As at March 31

2009

2008

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and short-term investments

$

Accounts receivable (note 4)
Investment tax credits (note 14)
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress (note 5)
Inventories (note 5)
Future income taxes (note 14)
Deposits and prepaid assets (note 6)
Assets held for sale (note 2)
Property, plant and equipment (note 7)
Goodwill (notes 3 and 17)
Intangible assets (note 8)
Future income taxes (note 14)
Assets held for sale (note 2)
Portfolio investments (note 4)
Other assets (note 9)
$

154,253

$

56,785

120,479

126,052

14,538
86,079

13,712
79,478

137,600

93,751

3,669
14,615

1,604
15,794

—

12,156

531,233
204,160

399,332
186,054

39,990

35,342

3,451
2,812

2,165
2,117

—

14,190

3,245
51,172

4,927
33,888

836,063

$

142

$

678,015

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness (note 10)

$

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4)
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress (note 5)
Future income taxes (note 14)

28,754

172,935

149,169

43,600
15,243

26,101
15,343

Current portion of long-term debt (note 10)

4,133

—

Current portion of obligations under capital leases (note 10)
Current liabilities associated with assets held for sale (note 2)

3,409
—

—
9,223

239,462

228,590

10,502
17,652

—
—

—

235

479,537

432,825

Long-term debt (note 10)
Long-term portion of obligations under capital leases (note 10)
Other long-term liabilities (note 4)
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 11)
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (note 12)
Retained earnings

$

8,722

6,370

15,494
64,694

(6,675)
16,670

568,447

449,190

836,063

$

678,015

Commitments (note 15)
On behalf of the Board:

Neil D. Arnold

Neale X. Trangucci

Director

Director

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended March 31
Revenue

2009
$

Operating costs and expenses
Cost of revenue

855,120

2008
$

663,269

707,975

594,702

83,921

103,930

Stock-based compensation (note 13)
Gain on sale of portfolio investments (note 4)

2,362
—

4,267
(31,779)

Gain on sale of silicon

(2,006)

(16,764)

Gain on sale of building (note 2)

(3,188)

—

Earnings from operations

66,056

8,913

Selling, general and administrative

Other expenses (income)
Interest on long-term debt
Other interest

682
(332)

1,551
(921)

350

630

Income from continuing operations before
income taxes and non-controlling interest

65,706

8,283

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (note 14)

8,172

(3,929)

—

54

Non-controlling interest in earnings of subsidiaries
Net income from continuing operations

57,534

12,158

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (note 2)

(9,510)

(35,581)

Net income (loss)

$

48,024

$

0.73

$

(23,423)

Basic earnings (loss) per share (note 18)
Basic — from continuing operations

$

Basic — from discontinued operations

(0.12)
$

0.17
(0.50)

0.61

$

0.72

$

(0.33)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (note 18)
Diluted — from continuing operations

$

Diluted — from discontinued operations

(0.12)
$

0.60

0.17
(0.50)

$

(0.33)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income

(in thousands of dollars)

Year ended March 31, 2009

Balance, beginning of year

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$ (6,675)

$16,670

$449,190

—
—

—
24,977

48,024
—

48,024
24,977

—

—

(1,548)

—

(1,548)

—

—

(4,925)

—

(4,925)

—

—

3,665

—

3,665

—
46,781

2,352
—

—
—

—
—

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

$432,825

$6,370

—
—

Comprehensive income (loss)
Net income
Currency translation adjustment (note 12)
Net unrealized loss on available for-sale financial
assets
Net unrealized loss on derivative financial
instruments designated as cash flow hedges
Gains transferred to net income (loss) for
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Total comprehensive income
Stock-based compensation (note 13)
Issuance of share capital (note 11)

70,193
2,352
46,781

Costs related to shares issued for rights offering
(note 11)

(69)

—

—

—

(69)

$479,537

$8,722

$15,494

$64,694

$568,447

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$327,560

$3,193

$ (9,422)

$ 40,048

$361,379

—

—

20,534

45

20,579

327,560

3,193

11,112

40,093

381,958

—
—

—
—

—
2,643

(23,423)
—

(23,423)
2,643

—

—

(2,489)

—

(2,489)

—

—

(18,420)

—

(18,420)

instruments designated as cash flow hedges
Losses transferred to net income (loss) for

—

—

5,853

—

5,853

derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

—

—

(5,374)

—

(5,374)

—

3,986

—

—

3,986

2,743

(809)

—

—

1,934

102,522

—

—

—

102,522

$432,825

$6,370

$ (6,675)

$ 16,670

$449,190

Balance, end of the year
Year ended March 31, 2008

Balance, beginning of year
Transitional adjustment on adoption of new
accounting standards
Comprehensive income (loss)
Net loss
Currency translation adjustment (note 12)
Net unrealized loss on available for-sale financial
assets
Amount transferred to income on available for-sale
financial assets
Net unrealized gain on derivative financial

Total comprehensive loss

(41,210)

Stock-based compensation (note 13)
Exercise of stock options
Shares issued during the year for cash on rights
offering, net (note 11)
Balance, end of the year

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands of dollars)

Years ended March 31

2009

2008

Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Items not involving cash

$

48,024

$

(23,423)

Depreciation and amortization

24,873

22,019

Future income taxes
Other items not involving cash

(2,860)
515

(2,669)
1,329

Stock-based compensation

2,362

4,267

Gain on disposal of portfolio investment (note 4)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

—
(2,492)

(31,779)
—

Non-cash items related to discontinued operations (note 2)

2,750

24,031

Cash flow from operations
Change in non-cash operating working capital

73,172
1,428

(6,225)
4,877

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

74,600

(1,348)

(12,445)

(21,844)

—
(2,315)

(3,836)
—

Investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Cash paid for acquisition of subsidiary (note 3)
Acquisition of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of portfolio investment (note 4)

—

31,932

Investments, silicon deposits and other
Proceeds from disposal of discontinued operations (net of cash disposed) (note 2)

(15,411)
3,896

(29,119)
—

Proceeds from disposal of assets

16,208

Cash flows used in investing activities

(10,067)

(22,072)

Bank indebtedness (note 10)

(28,339)

(19,660)

Share issue costs (note 11)
Proceeds from long-term debt (note 10)

(3,288)
24,769

(7,688)
60,000

Repayment of long-term debt (note 10)

(12,769)

(87,157)

Issuance of common shares (notes 11 and 13)

50,000

112,144

Cash flows provided by financing activities

30,373

57,639

795

Financing activities:

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and short-term investments
Increase in cash and short-term investments
Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year

2,562

(3,002)

97,468
56,785

31,217
25,568

Cash and short-term investments, end of year

$

154,253

$

56,785

Supplemental information
Property, plant and equipment acquired by means of capital leases

$

21,599

$

—

Obligations under capital leases

$

21,599

$

—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. and subsidiary companies (collectively “the Company”) operate in two segments; Automation
Systems and Photowatt Technologies. The Automation Systems segment produces custom-engineered turn-key automated
manufacturing and test systems. The Photowatt Technologies segment is a high-volume manufacturer of photovoltaic products. As
described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has reported its Precision Components Group, which was held
for sale as of March 31, 2008 and sold during the year ended March 31, 2009, in discontinued operations.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) on a basis consistent with prior periods. Amounts are stated in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. Certain
figures for the previous year have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s consolidated financial statement presentation.
(a) Basis of consolidation: These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. The non-controlling interest in earnings of subsidiaries has been
calculated and included in the financial statements for subsidiaries not 100% owned by the Company. The proportionate consolidation
method is used to account for investments in joint ventures in which the Company exercises joint control, whereby the Company’s pro rata
share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is consolidated.
(b) Foreign currency translation: The assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at
year-end exchange rates and the resulting unrealized exchange gains or losses are included as a separate component of shareholders’
equity. The statements of operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing during the year.
Other monetary assets and liabilities, including long-term monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in foreign currencies, are
translated into Canadian dollars at year-end exchange rates, and transactions included in earnings are translated at rates prevailing during
the year. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in the consolidated
statements of operations.
(c) Cash and short-term investments: Cash and short-term investments consist of cash and highly liquid money market instruments,
typically with original maturities of three months or less.
(d) Contract revenue and inventories: Contract revenue in the Automation Systems segment is recognized using the percentage of
completion method. The degree of completion is determined based on costs incurred, excluding costs that are not representative of
progress to completion, as a percentage of total costs anticipated for each contract. Incentive awards, claims or penalty provisions are
recognized when such amounts are likely to occur and can reasonably be estimated. Complete provision is made for losses on contracts in
progress when such losses first become known. Revisions in cost and profit estimates, which can be significant, are reflected in the
accounting period in which the relevant facts become known.
Revenue in the Photowatt Technologies segment and certain repetitive equipment manufacturing contracts within the Automation Systems
segment is primarily recognized when earned, which is generally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to the customer, providing
collection is reasonably assured. Revenue on certain long-term contracts in the Photowatt Technologies segment is recognized using the
percentage of completion method consistent with the Automation Systems segment accounting policy.
Provisions for warranty claims and other allowances are made based on contract terms and prior experience.
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost on a first-in, first-out basis and net realizable value. Cost includes direct materials, direct labour and
operational overhead expenses.
(e) Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization is computed using the following
methods and annual rates:
Asset
Buildings
Production equipment
Other equipment and furniture

Basis

Rate

Declining-balance
Straight-line

4%
3%-6%

Straight-line

10%-30%

Declining-balance

20%-30%

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the related leases or their remaining useful life on a straight-line basis.
Property under capital leases is initially recorded at the present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease.
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1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d):
(f) Portfolio Investments: Portfolio investments of publicly traded securities are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at fair
value with changes being recorded through other comprehensive income. Portfolio investments in securities without a quoted market price
in an active market are initially recorded at cost and are reduced to estimated market values if there is other than a temporary decline in the
value of the investment.
(g) Goodwill and other intangible assets: Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired enterprise over the net of the
amounts assigned to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, less any subsequent impairment write-down. Goodwill
is subject to an impairment test on at least an annual basis or upon the occurrence of certain events or circumstances which indicate that the
asset might be impaired.
Other intangible assets, which are primarily patents and licenses on technologies, are recorded at cost and amortized over their estimated
economic life, ranging from 3 to 20 years, on a straight-line basis.
(h) Impairment of long-lived assets: Long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the total of the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the
carrying value over the fair value of the asset.
(i) Research and development costs: Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs which meet Canadian GAAP criteria
are deferred and amortized over the period in which the Company expects to benefit from the resulting product or process. Research and
development costs which are expensed by the Company are charged to cost of revenue as a substantial portion of the expenses relate to
customer contracts.
Deferred development costs are reviewed annually for recoverability. When the criteria that previously justified the deferral of costs are no
longer met, the unamortized balance is written off as a charge to earnings in that period. When the criteria for deferral continue to be met, but
the amount of deferred development costs that can reasonably be regarded as assured through recovery of related future revenues less
relevant costs is exceeded by the unamortized balance of such costs, the excess is written off as a charge to earnings in that period.
(j) Investment tax credits and government assistance: Investment tax credits (“ITC”) and government assistance are accounted for as
a reduction in the cost of the related asset or expense when there is reasonable assurance that such credits or assistance will be realized.
(k) Income taxes: The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of accounting for
income taxes, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of
assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. The effect on future income tax assets and liabilities of a change in rates is included in earnings in the
period which included the enactment date.
Future income tax assets are recognized when the Company is satisfied that it will be more likely than not that the benefit will be utilized to
offset future income taxes payable in the foreseeable future. The Company assesses, on an ongoing basis, the degree of certainty regarding
the realization of future income tax assets and whether a valuation allowance is required. Accrued interest and penalties for uncertain tax
positions are recognized in the period in which uncertainties are identified.
(l) Stock-based compensation plans: The Company expenses employee stock-based compensation using a fair value-based method of
accounting for stock-based compensation. The fair value of time vesting based stock options is estimated at the grant date using the BlackScholes option pricing model. The fair value of performance-based stock options is estimated at the grant date using a binomial optionpricing model. These models require the input of a number of assumptions, including expected dividend yields, expected stock price
volatility, expected time until exercise and risk-free interest rates. Although the assumptions used reflect management’s best estimates, they
involve inherent uncertainties based on market conditions generally outside of the control of the Company. If other assumptions are used,
stock-based compensation expense could be significantly impacted. As stock options are exercised, the proceeds received on exercise, in
addition to the portion of the contributed surplus balance related to those stock options, are credited to share capital.
Compensation expense is recognized for the Company’s contributions and obligations under the Employee Share Purchase Plan, the
Deferred Stock Unit Plan, and the Stock Option Plan. Details regarding these plans are outlined in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
(m) Earnings per share: The calculation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares issued and outstanding.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method which assumes that outstanding options which are dilutive to
earnings per share are exercised and the proceeds used to repurchase shares of the Company at the average market price of the shares for
the period.
(n) Disposal of long-lived assets and discontinued operations: A long-lived asset that meets the conditions as held for sale is
measured at the lower of its carrying amount or its fair value less costs to sell. Such assets are not amortized while they are classified as held
for sale. The results of operations of a component of an entity that has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, are reported in
discontinued operations if the operations and cash flows of the component have been or will be eliminated as a result of the disposal
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1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d):
transaction, and the entity will not have a significant continuing involvement in the operations of the component after the disposal
transaction.
(o) Asset retirement obligation: Liabilities related to legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets are
initially measured at fair value in the period incurred and subsequently adjusted for the passage of time and any changes in the underlying
cash flows. The asset retirement cost is capitalized to the related asset and amortized over the asset’s useful life.
(p) Use of estimates: The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from these estimates. Significant estimates and assumptions are used when accounting for items such as impairment of
long-lived assets, recoverability of deferred development costs, fair value of reporting units and goodwill, fair value of assets held for sale,
warranties, income taxes, future income tax assets, determination of estimated useful lives of intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment, impairment of portfolio investments, contracts in progress, inventory provisions, revenue recognition, contingent liabilities and
allowances for accounts receivable.
(q) Comprehensive income and equity: Comprehensive income is composed of the Company’s net income and other comprehensive
income which includes unrealized gains and losses on translating financial statements of self-sustaining foreign operations, changes in the
fair value of the effective portion of cash flow hedging instruments and changes in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial
assets measured at fair value. The Company discloses comprehensive income within its consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity
and other comprehensive income.
(r) Capital disclosures: The Company discloses information about its capital and how it is managed including information about its
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital and discloses whether or not it has complied with any capital requirements to which
it is subject and the consequences of non-compliance. See note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
(s) Financial instruments: All financial instruments are initially recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value except for certain
related party transactions. They are subsequently measured either at fair value or amortized cost depending on the classification selected for
the financial instrument. Financial assets are classified as either “held-for-trading”, “held-to-maturity”, “available-for-sale” or “loans and
receivables” and financial liabilities are classified as either “held-for-trading” or “other liabilities”. Financial assets and liabilities classified as
held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of operations except for
financial assets and liabilities designated as cash flow hedges which are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded as a
component of other comprehensive income. Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity or loans and receivables and financial liabilities
classified as other liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale financial
assets that have a quoted price in an active market are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in other comprehensive
income. Such gains and losses are reclassified to earnings when the related financial asset is disposed of or when the decline in value is
considered to be other-than-temporary. Equity instruments classified as “available-for-sale” that do not have a quoted price in an active
market are subsequently measured at cost.
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows:
k
k
k
k
k

Cash and short-term investments are classified as held-for-trading.
Accounts receivable and notes receivable included in other assets are classified as loans and receivables.
Long-term investments in equities included in portfolio investments are classified as available for-sale.
Bank indebtedness is classified as held-for-trading.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, long-term debt and other long-term liabilities are classified as other liabilities.

The Company has elected to expense transaction costs related to financial instruments classified as other than held-for-trading. The
Company has elected to use trade date accounting for regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets.
(t) Embedded derivatives: Embedded derivatives, which are components included in a non-derivative host contract that have features
meeting the definition of a derivative, are required to be accounted for separately when their economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host instrument and the combined contract is not recorded at fair value. In accordance with GAAP, the Company
measures any embedded derivatives at fair value with subsequent changes recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. The
Company enters into certain non-financial instrument contracts which contain embedded foreign currency derivatives. Where the contract is
not leveraged, does not contain an option feature and is denominated in a currency that is commonly used in the economic environment
where the transaction takes place, the embedded derivative is not accounted for separately from the host contract. The Company elected
April 1, 2003 as the transition date for embedded derivatives and only reviewed contracts entered into or modified after that date.
(u) Hedges: The Company applies hedge accounting in accordance with GAAP. Hedge accounting enables the recording of gains, losses,
revenues and expenses from derivative financial instruments in the same period as those related to the hedged item. If the derivative is
designated as a fair value hedge, changes in fair value of the derivative and changes in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective
portions of the change in fair value of the derivative are initially recorded in other comprehensive income and are reclassified to the
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1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d):
consolidated statements of operations when the hedged item is recognized. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when it is
determined that the derivative is not effective as a hedge, or the derivative is terminated or sold, or upon sale or early termination of the
hedged item. The Company has elected to apply hedge accounting for certain forward foreign exchange contracts used to manage foreign
currency exposure on anticipated revenue and firm commitments and has designated these as cash flow hedges. The fair value of these
derivatives is included in deposits and prepaid assets when in an asset position and in accounts payable and accrued liabilities when in a
liability position. Gains or losses arising from hedging activities are reported in the same caption on the consolidated statements of
operations as the hedged item.
The nature of the items or transactions that the Company hedges and the Company’s hedging programs in relation to these items or
transactions are included in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
(v) Change in accounting policies: Effective April 1, 2008, the Company prospectively adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 3031 “Inventories” with no restatement of prior periods. This CICA Handbook Section requires that
inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value and provides more extensive guidance on the determination of cost,
including the allocation of overhead. The Section also allows for the write-up of subsequent increases in net realizable value of previously
impaired inventory and expands the disclosure requirements. There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements on the
adoption of the standard. See note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
(w) Future accounting standards: The CICA has issued the following new Handbook Sections:
k

CICA Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”

CICA Handbook Section 3064 replaces Handbook Section 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and Handbook Section 3450
“Research and Development Costs”. The standard introduces guidance for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
goodwill and intangible assets including internally generated intangible assets. This standard is effective for interim and annual financial
statements for the Company’s reporting period beginning on April 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of
this new section.
k

International Financial Reporting Standards

The CICA’s Accounting Standards Board has announced that Canadian publicly accountable enterprises will adopt International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board effective January 1, 2011. Although IFRS uses a
conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, differences in accounting policies and additional required disclosures will need to be
addressed. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this announcement on its consolidated financial statements.

2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE:
(i) During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company sold the key operating assets and liabilities, including equipment, current assets,
trade accounts payable and certain other assets and liabilities of its Precision Components Group (“PCG”) for cash proceeds of $4,250 and
promissory notes with a face value of $2,750. Accordingly, the results of operations and financial position of PCG have been segregated and
presented separately as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements. The results of the discontinued operations were
as follows:
Years ended March 31

2009

2008

Revenue

$

28,219

$

68,565

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

(9,510)

$

(35,581)

In 2008 the loss from discontinued operations includes non-cash asset impairment charges of $19,109 ($19,109 before taxes) to reflect the
write-down of long-lived assets to fair value less costs to sell and valuation allowances of $4,191 against inventories and $700 against
accounts receivable to write-down the assets to their estimated net realizable value.
(ii) During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company sold the land and building related to its Spheral Solar development project which
was halted in early fiscal 2008. The land and building were sold for net proceeds of $16,000 and a gain of $3,188 before and after tax. The
land and building were held for sale at the end of fiscal 2008.
(iii) During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company reclassified long-lived assets that were previously held for sale, as held for use
assets, as the Company no longer believes these assets will be sold within one year. The land and building related to its Ohio division were
classified as held for sale at the end of fiscal 2008.
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3. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES:
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company acquired an additional 6% ownership in one of its subsidiaries in the Photowatt
Technologies segment for cash consideration of $3,836. This resulted in an increase in the Company’s goodwill in this subsidiary of $1,983
and a decrease in the non-controlling interest in this subsidiary of $1,853.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:
(i) Categories of financial assets and liabilities:
The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments are classified into the following categories:
As at March 31

2009

2008

Held for trading
Cash and short-term investments
Bank indebtedness

$

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges(i) — loss
Derivatives designated as held for trading(i) — gain (loss)

154,253
142

$

56,785
28,754

(1,369)

(58)

192

(1,394)

Loans and receivables
Accounts receivable

$

Accounts receivable within assets held for sale

114,607

$

—

111,310
8,269

Available for sale
Portfolio investments
Other liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities(i)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities associated with assets held for sale
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt

$

3,245

$

4,927

$

149,384

$

122,897

—

6,977

—
14,635

235
—

(i) Derivative financial instruments in a gain position are included in deposits and prepaid assets. Derivative financial instruments in a loss
position are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
The estimated fair values of cash and short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts receivable within assets held for sale, bank
indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and accounts payable and accrued liabilities associated with assets held for sale
approximate their respective carrying values due to the short period to maturity. The estimated fair values of long-term debt and other longterm liabilities approximate their respective carrying values due to interest rates approximating current market values. Derivative financial
instruments are carried at fair value determined by reference to quoted bid or asking prices, as appropriate, in active markets at period end
dates. Portfolio investments in equities are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices, except where a quoted market price in an
active market does not exist, in which case they are measured at cost.
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company sold all of its shares in Canadian Solar Inc., a publicly traded company on Nasdaq, for
gross proceeds of $32,032 and net proceeds of $31,932. A gain of $31,779 was recorded in the consolidated statements of operations
related to this disposition.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d):
(ii) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Forward foreign exchange contracts are transacted with financial institutions to hedge foreign currency denominated obligations related to
sales of products. The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments to buy and sell foreign currencies under forward foreign
exchange contracts, all of which have a maturity date of less than one year as at March 31, 2009:

Currency sold

Currency bought

Notional
amount sold

Weighted
average rate

US dollars

Canadian dollars

63,426

1.2183

Euros
Canadian dollars

Canadian dollars
US dollars

27,311
9,461

1.6492
0.8131

Euros

Swiss Francs

6,700

1.5177

US dollars
Swiss Francs

Singapore dollars
Canadian dollars

4,442
4,001

1.4735
1.0670

Canadian dollars

Euros

2,178

0.6198

Euros
Great British Pound

Singapore dollars
Canadian dollars

1,700
1,340

1.9891
1.7884

Euros

Great British Pound

570

0.8704

US dollars

Great British Pound

266

0.6746

Management estimates that a loss of $1,177 would be realized if the contracts were terminated on March 31, 2009 (2008 — loss of $1,452).
Certain of these forward foreign exchange contracts are designated as cash flow hedges and have unrealized losses of $1,369 (2008 —
unrealized losses of $58), of which a loss of $1,356 is recognized in AOCI (2008 — loss of $96) and a loss of $13, representing the ineffective
portion of cash flow hedges, has been included in net income (2008 — gain of $38). The net loss included in AOCI is not expected to affect
net income as the losses will be reclassified to net income within the next twelve months and will offset gains recorded on the underlying
hedged items. An unrealized gain of $192 on forward contracts not designated as hedges is included in net income (2008 — loss of $1,394)
which offsets losses recorded on the foreign denominated items, namely accounts payable and accounts receivable.
All hedging relationships are formally documented, including the risk management objective and strategy. On a quarterly basis, an
assessment is made as to whether the designated derivative financial instruments have been and continue to be effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged transactions.
(iii) Risks arising from financial instruments and risk management
The Company is exposed to financial risks that may potentially impact its operating results in either or both of its operating segments;
including market risks (foreign exchange rate, interest rate and other market price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Company’s financial performance. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate exposure to fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates. The Company does not enter into derivative financial agreements for speculative purposes.
Currency risk
The Company transacts business in multiple currencies, the most significant of which are the Canadian dollar, the U.S. dollar, the Euro and
the Singapore dollar. As a result, the Company has foreign currency exposure with respect to items denominated in foreign currencies. The
types of foreign exchange risk can be categorized as follows:
Translation exposure
All of the Company’s foreign operations are considered self-sustaining. Accordingly, assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars
using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates. Unrealized translation gains and losses are deferred and included in
accumulated other comprehensive income. The cumulative currency translation adjustments are recognized in income when there has been
a reduction in the net investment in the foreign operations.
Foreign currency based earnings are translated into Canadian dollars each period. As a result, fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar
relative to these other currencies will impact reported net income. Foreign currency risks arising from the translation of assets and liabilities of
foreign operations into the Company’s functional currency are generally not hedged; however, the Company may decide to hedge this risk
under certain circumstances. The Company has assessed the net foreign currency exposure of operations relative to their own functional
currency. A fluctuation of +/- 5%, provided as an indicative range in a volatile currency environment, would, everything else being equal, have
an effect on accumulated other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2009 of approximately +/- $16,269 and on income
from continuing operations before income taxes and non-controlling interest for the year ended March 31, 2009 of approximately +/- $1,246
(2008 — $378).
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d):
Transaction exposure
The Company, through its subsidiaries, generates significant revenues in major foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which exceed the
natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage this net foreign currency exposure in
subsidiaries which do not have the U.S. dollar as the functional currency, the Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts. The
timing and amount of these forward foreign exchange contracts are estimated based on existing customer contracts on hand or anticipated,
current conditions in the Company’s markets, and the Company’s past experience. As such, there is not a material transaction exposure.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and short-term investments, accounts
receivable and derivative financial instruments. The carrying values of these assets represent management’s assessment of the associated
maximum exposure to such credit risk. Substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable are due from customers in a variety of
industries and as such, are subject to normal credit risks from their respective industries. The Company regularly monitors customers for
changes in credit risk. Recent events in the automotive industry have increased credit risk associated with the Company’s exposure to its
customers in this industry. The Company has not experienced any direct, material impacts to date, however; the indirect impacts could
impact future profitability. The Company does not believe that any other single industry or geographic region represents significant credit risk.
Credit risk concentration with respect to trade receivables is mitigated by the Company’s client base being primarily large, multinational
customers. As at March 31, 2009, $38,116 of trade accounts receivable were past due date, of which $14,900 or 12% of trade accounts
receivable were more than 90 days past due date. The Company has provided for $11,120 against specific receivables identified as being
uncollectible. The movement in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the year ended March 31, 2009 was as follows:
2009
Balance at April 1

$

Provisions and revisions
Balance at March 31

9,131

2008
$

1,989
$

11,120

4,593
4,538

$

9,131

The Company minimizes credit risk associated with derivative financial instruments by only entering into derivative transactions with highly
rated, multinational financial institutions, in order to reduce the risk of counterparty default.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. As at March 31,
2009, the Company was holding cash and short-term investments of $154,253 and had unutilized lines of credit of $88,121. Effective June
2008, the Company established a new long-term credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”), as described in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company expects that continued cash flows from operations in fiscal 2010, together with cash and short-term investments
on hand and new credit facilities, will be more than sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in working capital and capital assets. All
of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than one year, with the exception of the long-term debt and capital
lease obligations. See note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
Interest rate risk
In relation to its debt financing, the Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, which may impact on the Company’s borrowing costs.
Floating rate debt exposes the Company to fluctuations in short-term interest rates. As at March 31, 2009, $14,777 or 100% (2008 —
$28,754 or 100%) of the Company’s total debt is subject to movements in floating interest rates. A +/- 1% change in interest rates, which is
indicative of the change in the prime lending rate over the preceding twelve month period, would, all things being equal, have an insignificant
impact on income from continuing operations before income taxes and non-controlling interest for the period.
Other market price risk
Equity price risk arises from available for sale equity securities. Material investments are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell
decisions are approved by the Board of Directors. Included with available for sale assets is an investment in a private company and its related
subsidiaries for which there is not a quoted share price within an active market. Accordingly, the investment is not adjusted for changes in fair
value and is recorded at its initial cost of $1,958. A $1 increase or decrease in the equity price of the remaining investment within the portfolio
investment would increase or decrease AOCI by $620 respectively.
The Company utilizes long-term fixed price contracts to secure future quantities of various commodities. The Company does not enter into
such commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected usage and sales requirements; such contracts are not net settled.
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5. CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS AND INVENTORIES:
As at March 31

2009

Contracts in progress:
Costs incurred on contracts in progress

$

Estimated earnings
Progress billings

390,729

2008

$

323,239

80,756

56,517

471,485
(429,006)

379,756
(326,379)

$

42,479

$

53,377

$

86,079
(43,600)

$

79,478
(26,101)

$

42,479

$

53,377

Disclosed as:
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress

As at March 31

2009

2008

Inventories are summarized as follows:
Raw materials
Work in process

$

Finished goods

84,678
11,711

$

41,211
$

137,600

61,905
15,296
16,550

$

93,751

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost on a first in, first out basis and net realizable value. Cost of raw materials includes purchase cost
and cost incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition. Cost of work in process includes cost of direct materials,
labour and an allocation of manufacturing overheads, excluding borrowing costs, based on normal operating capacity. Net realizable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated cost necessary to make
the sale.
The amount of inventory recognized as an expense and included in cost of revenue accounted for other than by the
percentage-of-completion method during the year ended March 31, 2009 was $324,685 (year ended March 31, 2008: $223,717). The
amount charged to net income and included in cost of revenue for the write-down of inventory for valuation issues during the year ended
March 31, 2009 was $7,871 (year ended March 31, 2008: $5,698). The amount recognized in net income and included in cost of revenue for
the reversal of previous inventory write-downs due to rising prices during the year ended March 31, 2009 was $181 (year ended March 31,
2008: nil).

6. DEPOSITS AND PREPAID ASSETS:
As at March 31

2009

Prepaid assets
Silicon and other deposits

$

2,755
8,731

Forward contracts and other

2008
$

3,129
$

14,615

4,611
9,530
1,653

$

15,794

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:
2009
As at March 31
Land and land improvements
Buildings

Cost
$

Leashold improvements
Production equipment(i)
Other equipment and furniture
$
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29,461
110,652

Accumulated
amortization
$

—
36,131

Net book
value
$

29,461
74,521

4,880

2,622

2,258

160,367
55,251

78,180
39,518

82,187
15,733

360,611

$

156,451

$

204,160
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d):
2008
As at March 31

Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Land and land improvements

$

Buildings
Leashold improvements
Production equipment
Other equipment and furniture
$

28,477

$

—

Net book
value
$

28,477

97,011
6,165

28,407
3,232

68,604
2,933

142,828

66,630

76,198

46,011

36,169

9,842

320,492

$

134,438

$

186,054

(i) Included in production equipment in the current year is $21,599 (2008 — nil) related to assets purchased under capital lease with
accumulated depreciation of $489 (2008 — nil). The amount of amortization charged to expense in fiscal 2009 related to assets under
capital lease is $489 (2008 — nil).

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS:
2009
As at March 31
Deferred development

Cost
$

Licenses and other intangible assets

Accumulated
amortization

12,884

$

3,645
$

11,667

Net book
value
$

1,411

16,529

$

13,078

1,217
2,234

$

3,451
2008

As at March 31
Deferred development

Accumulated
amortization

Cost
$

Licenses and other intangible assets

13,160

$

1,329
$

11,220

Net book
value
$

1,104

14,489

$

12,324

1,940
225

$

2,165

During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company did not defer any development costs (2008 — $53). Amortization of deferred
development costs included in continuing operations was $723 (2008 — $531). Amortization of licenses and other intangibles was $307
(2008 — $127).

9. OTHER ASSETS:
2009
Silicon deposits

$

Other

51,021

2008
$

151
$

51,172

33,888
—

$

33,888

10. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND LONG-TERM DEBT:
Effective June 2008, the Company established a new long-term primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) with total credit facilities of up
to $85,000, comprised of an operating credit facility of $40,000 which, after the Company has met certain conditions, increases by
$5,000 monthly increments up to $65,000, and a letter of credit facility of up to $20,000 for certain purposes. As of March 31, 2009, the
Company has met conditions to access $65,000 of available operating credit facilities under the Credit Agreement. The operating credit
facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the outstanding funds advanced under the facility can be used to fund certain
subsidiaries of the Company. The Credit Agreement, which is secured by the assets, including real estate, of the Company’s North American
legal entities and a pledge of shares and guarantees from certain of the Company’s legal entities, is repayable in full on October 31, 2009.
The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letter of credit for certain purposes and/or
bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBOR advances. The interest rates applicable to the
operating credit facility are determined based on certain financial ratios. For prime rate advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is
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10. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND LONG-TERM DEBT (cont’d):
equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in Canada, respectively, plus 1.25% to 2.25%. For bankers’ acceptances
and LIBOR advances, the interest rate is equal to the bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBOR, respectively, plus 2.25% to 3.25%.
Under the Credit Agreement the Company pays a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the amounts available for advance or drawdown under the credit facilities at a rate of 0.5% per annum.
The Credit Agreement is subject to a debt leverage test, a current ratio test, and a cumulative EBITDA test. Under the terms of the Credit
Agreement the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The Credit Agreement also restricts
the Company from repurchasing its common shares, paying dividends and from acquiring and disposing certain assets. The Company is in
compliance with these covenants and restrictions.
During the year ended March 31, 2009, Photowatt International S.A.S. established credit facilities including capital lease obligations of
36,171 Euro. The interest rates applicable to the credit facilities range from Euribor plus 0.5% to Euribor plus 1.8% and 4.9% per annum. The
credit facilities are secured by certain assets of Photowatt International S.A.S and are subject to debt leverage tests.
The Company has other credit facilities under short term unsecured credit facilities available totalling approximately 1,800 Euro. The credit
facilities bear interest ranging from 6.0% to Eonia plus 1.25% per annum. A portion of the available credit facilities are secured by a letter of
credit. In May 2009, one of the credit facilities in the amount of 500 Euro expired.
Interest paid in cash during the year totalled $1,255 (2008 — $6,015).
(i) Bank indebtedness
As at March 31
Primary credit facility

2009
$

Other facilities

—

2008
$

142
$

142

8,478
20,276

$

28,754

(ii) Long-term debt
As at March 31
Primary credit facility
Other facilities

2009
$

Less: current portion
$

—
14,635

2008
$

14,635

—

4,133

—

10,502

$

Principal
2010

$

—
—

4,133

—
Interest

$

442

2011

4,155

315

2012
2013

4,161
879

173
66

2014

895

32

Thereafter

412

5

$

14,635

$

1,033

(iii) Obligations under capital lease
As at March 31
Future minimum lease payments
Less: amount representing interest (at rates ranging from 3% to 5)%

2009
$

Less: current portion
$
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23,802
2,741

2008
$

—
—

21,061

—

3,409

—

17,652

$

—
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10. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND LONG-TERM DEBT (cont’d):
Lease Payments
2010

$

Interest

3,409

$

792

2011
2012

3,534
3,667

669
536

2013

3,805

398

2014
Thereafter

3,948
2,698

254
92

$

21,061

$

2,741

Interest of $150 (2008 — nil) relating to capital lease obligations has been included in interest expense in the current year.

11. SHARE CAPITAL:
As at March 31

2009

2008

Common shares:
Authorized
Unlimited shares
Issued:
87,277,155 shares (2008 — 77,277,155 shares)

$

479,537

$

432,825

During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company issued 10,000,000 Common Shares raising gross proceeds of $50,000 (net proceeds
of $46,781).
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company completed a rights offering, raising gross proceeds of $110,210 (net proceeds of
$102,522). The rights offering provided existing common shareholders with rights to subscribe for additional common shares in the
Company. Each shareholder of record of the Company on July 19, 2007 received one right for each common share held. For every 3.35
rights held, the holder was entitled to purchase one common share at the subscription price of $6.23 until August 14, 2007. The Company
received subscriptions for 16,011,247 common shares. Under the Additional Subscription Privilege, 1,678,903 shares were purchased.

12. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:
As at March 31
Accumulated currency translation adjustment

2009
$

18,198

2008
$

(6,779)

Accumulated unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale financial assets

(1,348)

200

Accumulated unrealized net loss on derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow
hedges

(1,356)

(96)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

$

15,494

$

(6,675)

13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS:
Employee Share Purchase Plan: Under the terms of the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plan, qualifying employees of the
Company may set aside funds through payroll deductions for an amount up to a maximum of 10% of their base salary or $10,000 in any one
calendar year. Subject to the member not making withdrawals from the plan, the Company makes contributions to the plan equal to 20% of a
member’s contribution to the plan during the year, up to a maximum of 1% of the member’s salary or $2,000. Shares for the plan may be
issued from treasury or purchased in the market as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. During the years ended March 31,
2009 and March 31, 2008, no shares were issued from treasury related to the plan.
Deferred Stock Unit Plan: The Company offers a Deferred Stock Unit Plan (“DSU Plan”) for members of the Board of Directors. Under
the DSU Plan each non-employee director may elect to receive his or her annual compensation in the form of notional common shares of the
Company called deferred stock units (“DSUs”). The issue and redemption prices of each DSU are based on an average trading price of the
Company’s common shares for the five trading days prior to issuance or redemption. Under the terms of the DSU Plan, directors are not
entitled to convert DSUs into cash until retirement from the Board. The value of each DSU, when converted to cash, will be equal to the
market value of a common share of the Company at the time the conversion takes place. At March 31, 2009, the value of the outstanding
liability related to the DSUs was $77 (2008 — $218). The DSU liability is revalued quarterly based on the change in the Company’s stock
price. The change in the value of the DSU liability is included in operating results in the period of the change.
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13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS: (cont’d):
Stock Option Plan: The Company uses a stock option plan to attract and retain key employees, officers and directors. Under the
Corporation’s 1995 Stock Option plan (the “1995 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a maximum of 5,991,839 common shares for
issuance under the 1995 Plan, with the maximum reserved for issuance to any one person at 5% of the common shares outstanding at the
time of the grant. Time vested stock options vest over four or five year periods. Performance-based stock options vest based on the
Company’s stock trading at or above a threshold for a specified number of minimum trading days in a fiscal quarter. For time vested stock
options, the exercise price is the price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the
date of the grant. For performance-based stock options the exercise price is either the price of the Company’s common shares on the
Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant or the five-day volume weighted average price of the Company’s
common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange prior to the date of the grant. Options granted under the plan may be exercised during
periods not exceeding seven or ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier termination upon the option holder ceasing to be a director,
officer or employee of the Company. Options issued under the plan are non-transferable. Any option granted which is cancelled or
terminated for any reason prior to exercise is returned to the pool and becomes available for future stock option grants. In the event that the
option would otherwise expire during a restricted trading period, the expiry date of the option is extended to the 10th business day following
the date of expiry of such period. In addition, the plan restricts the grant of Options to insiders that may be under the 1995 Plan.
Under the Company’s 2006 Stock Option Plan (the “2006 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a maximum of 2,159,000 common shares
for issuance. The terms of the 2006 Plan are identical to those of the 1995 Stock Option Plan, except that the maximum number of Common
Shares to be issued pursuant to the issue of options under the 2006 Plan is 2,159,000 shares.
As a result of the rights offering completed during the year ended March 31, 2008, the exercise price of the options outstanding at the date of
the closing of the rights offering was reduced by a factor of 0.9263 and the number of options were increased by 163,196 for time vesting
options and 41,364 for performance-based options.
As at March 31, 2009 there are a total of 2,982,136 (2008 — 2,447,530) common shares remaining for future option grants under both
plans.
Years ended March 31

2009
Number of
stock options

Stock options outstanding, beginning of year
Rights offering exercise price adjustment
Adjusted stock options outstanding
Granted
Exercised

$

2,647,487

—

—

(1.13)

6,562,649
710,000

8.83
5.76

2,647,487
5,508,950

14.21
7.18

—

Stock options outstanding, end of year
Stock options exercisable, end of year, time vested
options
Stock options exercisable, end of year, performance
options

As at March 31, 2009
Number
outstanding

Weighted average
exercise price

8.83

(1,160,087)

Anti-dilution adjustment

2008
Number of
stock options

—

—

Forfeited/Cancelled

Range of
Exercise prices

6,562,649

Weighted average
exercise price

$

15.34

—

(325,000)

5.95

10.33

(1,473,348)

13.97

—

204,560

14.24

6,112,562

$

8.18

6,562,649

$

8.83

864,259

$

12.77

1,043,704

$

14.99

910,334

$

6.39

928,479

$

6.54

Stock options outstanding
Weighted average
remaining Weighted average
contractual life
exercise price
$

Stock options exercisable
Number
exercisable

Weighted average
exercise price

$3.49 to 6.40

1,644,750

5.87 years

4.60

480,618

$6.41 to 8.50

2,799,679

7.09 years

7.52

709,345

7.23

$8.51 to 10.94
$10.95 to 23.72

1,011,091
657,042

9.73 years
4.84 years

10.54
16.27

159,650
424,980

10.70
18.22

$3.49 to 23.72

6,112,562

6.95 years

8.18

1,774,593

$

$

$

4.72

9.49

The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated assumed
vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the Company’s stock price trading at or above a stock price performance
threshold for a specified minimum number of trading days, the options vest. When the performance-based options vest, the Company is
required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated with the vested stock options in the period in which they vest.
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13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS: (cont’d):
As at March 31, 2009, the following performance-based stock options were un-vested:

Stock price
performance
threshold
$

Number of
options
outstanding

5.49
7.49

41,666
41,667

8.41
8.50
9.08

Grant date
value per
option
$

Weighted
average
remaining
vesting
period

Current
year
expense

Remaining
expense to
recognize

$

$

1.66
1.66

3.6 years
4.9 years

2
1

67
68

266,667

2.11

2.1 years

217

347

889,333
218,666

1.41
2.77

3.6 years
1.5 years

252
220

899
330

9.49

41,667

1.66

5.6 years

1

68

10.41
10.50

266,667
889,333

2.11
1.41

3.5 years
4.5 years

153
213

411
953

11.08

218,667

2.77

2.8 years

151

416

12.41
13.08

266,666
218,667

2.11
2.77

4.5 years
3.8 years

125
121

439
454

13.72

5,290

3.68

0.0 years

5

0

15.09
16.60

5,290
5,290

3.68
3.68

0.3 years
1.0 years

10
8

1
5

18.27

8,636

4.42

0.0 years

0

0

19.87

8,636

4.42

0.0 years

10

0

In the calculation of stock-based compensation expense, the fair values of the Company’s time vested stock option grants during the years
ended March 31, 2009 and March 31, 2008 were estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the fair value of the
Company’s performance-based stock option grants were estimated using a binomial option-pricing model with the following weighted
average assumptions and data:
As at March 31

2009

2008

Weighted average of risk-free interest rate

2.68%

3.84%

0%
50%

0%
40%

Dividend yield
Expected volatility in the market price of shares
Weighted average of expected life

4.1 years

4.6 years

Number of stock options granted:
Time vested

585,000

1,184,950

Performance — based
Weighted average exercise price per option
Weighted average grant date value per option:

125,000

4,324,000

$

5.76

$

7.18

Time vested

$

2.54

$

2.41

Performance — based

$

1.66

$

1.80

The change in contributed surplus consists of amounts charged to stock-based compensation expense excluding DSU charges.
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14. INCOME TAXES:
(i) Reconciliation of income taxes: Income tax expense differs from the amounts which would be obtained by applying the combined
Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate to earnings before income taxes and non-controlling interest. These differences result
from the following items:
Years Ended March 31

2009

2008

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and non-controlling interest
Combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate

$

65,706
33.43%

$

8,283
35.53%

Income tax expense based on combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate

$

21,966

$

2,943

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Change in valuation allowance of future income tax assets
Non-taxable income net of non-deductible expenses
Manufacturing and processing allowance and all other items

(10,370)

(4,440)

(2,976)

(3,677)

(448)

1,245

$

8,172

$

(3,929)

$

11,032
(2,860)

$

(1,260)
(2,669)

$

8,172

$

(3,929)

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes:
Current
Future

Income taxes paid in cash during the year totalled $225 (2008 — $4,690).
(ii) Components of future income tax assets and liabilities: Future income taxes are provided for the differences between
accounting and tax basis of asset and liabilities. Future income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following:
As at March 31

2009

2008

Future income tax assets:
Loss carryforwards
Property, plant and equipment

$

Deductible pool of scientific research and development expenditures not yet deducted for tax

15,862
5,347

$

32,262
9,687

30,954

18,439

Ontario harmonization credit
Other

2,189
8,997

2,189
6,443

63,349

69,020

Less valuation allowance

55,776

64,118

Future income tax assets, net

$

7,573

$

4,902

$

11,979
4,356

$

12,267
4,257

Future income tax liabilities:
Accounting income not currently taxable
Investment tax credits and other
Future income tax liabilities
Net future income tax liability

16,335
$

8,762

16,524
$

11,622

Net future income tax assets (liabilities) are classified for balance sheet purposes as follows:
As at March 31
Current assets
Long-term assets

2009
$

Current liabilities

$

(15,243)
$
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3,669
2,812

2008

(8,762)

1,604
2,117
(15,343)

$

(11,622)
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14. INCOME TAXES: (cont’d):
(iii) Loss carryforwards: As at March 31, 2009, the Company has the following net operating loss carryforwards which are scheduled to
expire in the following years:
Year of Expiry

Non-Canadian

2010
2011

$

645
1,365

Canadian
$

25
—

2012

2,862

—

2013
2014

2,438
649

—
19

2015 — 2019

1,565

1,059

2020 — 2024
2025 — 2029

2,059
6,109

—
8,200

27,311

—

No expiry
$

45,003

$

9,303

In addition, the Company has USA Federal and State capital loss carryforwards of US$2,135 (2008 — US$2,135) that do not expire.
(iv) Investment tax credits: As at March 31, 2009, the Company has investment tax credits available to be applied against future taxes
payable in Canada of approximately $35,692 and in foreign jurisdictions of approximately $5,652. The investment tax credits are scheduled
to expire as follows:
Gross ITC
Balance

Year of Expiry
2012

$

901

2013

132

2014
2015 — 2019

3,456
7,874

2020 — 2024

238

2025 — 2029
No expiry

28,449
294
$

41,344

The benefit of $14,538 (2008 — $13,712) of these investment tax credits have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

15. COMMITMENTS:
The minimum operating lease payments related primarily to facilities and equipment, purchase obligations and other obligations in each of
the next five years are as follows:
Operating
Leases

Fiscal Year
2010

$

4,532

Purchase
Obligations
$

114,180

Other
Obligations
$

83

2011 — 2012

5,515

181,026

40

2013 — 2014
Thereafter

158
0

114,648
231,756

—
—

$

10,205

$

641,610

$

123

In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to the customer for obligations relating to contract completion and timely delivery.
In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may provide bank guarantees as security for advances received from customers
pending delivery and contract performance. At March 31, 2009, the total value of outstanding bank guarantees to customers available under
bank guarantee facilities was approximately $24,361 (2008 — $18,875).
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16. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE:
During the year ended March 31, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with Technology Partnerships Canada (“TPC”) which
provides for funding of up to $29,500 as a contribution towards the Company’s development of a silicon sphere solar technology, Spheral
SolarTM.
As consideration for the TPC funding, the Company is required to pay royalties of 1.8% on future Spheral SolarTM Power revenues. These
royalties commence in the first year that future annual revenues resulting from the sale, licensing or other transfer of Spheral SolarTM Power
products and related services exceed $20,000 and continue for a total of 10 years. If the cumulative royalties exceed $84,493 during this
10 year period, the royalty rate declines to 0.35% for the remaining term. If at the end of 10 years the cumulative royalties have not reached
$84,493, the royalty payment term is extended for the lesser of a further five years or once cumulative royalties of $84,493 have been
reached. The Company has not recorded any liability amounts with respect to the TPC funding since the conditions for the payment of
royalties have not yet been met. The Company halted development on this project in early fiscal 2008.

17. ASSET IMPAIRMENT AND OTHER CHARGES:
The Company regularly reviews the net recoverable amount of its assets. The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment
assessment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 and has determined there is no impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2009 (2008 — nil).

18. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Weighted average number of shares used in the computation of earnings (loss) per share is as follows:
Years Ended March 31

2009

2008

Basic

79,282,650

70,494,006

Diluted

79,393,068

70,528,902

During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company executed a rights offering as described in note 11. The exercise price of the rights
offering was less than the fair market value of the common shares at issuance of the rights. Accordingly, it contained a bonus element that is
similar to a stock dividend. In accordance with the recommendations of CICA Handbook Section 3500, “Earnings Per Share”, the weighted
average common shares for the year ended March 31, 2008 have been retroactively increased by 489,000 to reflect the bonus element.
In the year ended March 31, 2009, the impact of discontinued operations on the net loss per share resulted in a reduction to both basic and
diluted net loss per share of $0.12 (2008 — $0.50). For the year ended March 31, 2009, stock options to purchase 6,039,206 common
shares are excluded from the weighted average common shares in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive (all
stock options were excluded in the year ended March 31, 2008).

19. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE:
The Company evaluates performance based on two reportable segments: Automation Systems and Photowatt Technologies. The
Automation Systems segment produces custom-engineered turn-key automated manufacturing and test systems. The Photowatt
Technologies segment is a high-volume manufacturer of photovoltaic products.
The Company accounts for inter-segment revenue at current market rates, negotiated between the segments.
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19. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE: (cont’d):
2009
Automation
Systems

Photowatt
Technologies

Consolidated

Revenue
Inter-segment revenue

$

588,483
(3,118)

$

269,755

$

858,238
(3,118)

Total Company revenue

$

585,365

$

269,755

$

855,120

Earnings from operations
Inter-segment operating loss
Stock-based compensation
Other expenses

$

58,745

$

24,522

$

83,267
(250)
(2,362)
(14,599)

$

66,056

$

821,758
14,305

$

836,063

Total Company income from operations
Assets
Corporate assets and inter-segment

$

474,049

$

347,709

Total Company goodwill

$

33,476

$

6,514

$

39,990

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Corporate acquisitions, inter-segment transfers and other

$

2,665

$

28,576

$

31,241
2,803

$

34,044

$

24,133
740

$

24,873

Amortization from continuing operations
Corporate and inter-segment amortization

$

8,483

$

15,650

Total Company amortization from continuing operations

2008
Automation
Systems

Photowatt
Technologies

Consolidated

Revenue
Inter-segment revenue

$

464,978
(326)

$

198,617

$

663,595
(326)

Total Company revenue

$

464,652

$

198,617

$

663,269

Earnings from operations
Inter-segment operating earnings
Stock-based compensation
Other expenses
Gain on sale of portfolio investments

$

903

$

3,159

$

4,062
488
(4,267)
(23,149)
31,779

$

8,913

$

658,474
1,380
18,161

$

678,015

Total Company income from operations
Assets
Corporate assets and inter-segment
Other assets

$

382,427

$

276,047

Total Company goodwill

$

29,830

$

5,512

$

35,342

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Corporate acquisitions, inter-segment transfers and other

$

3,100

$

17,192

$

20,292
1,552

$

21,844

$

21,819
200

$

22,019

Amortization from continuing operations
Corporate and inter-segment amortization
Total Company amortization from continuing operations
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19. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE: (cont’d):

Revenue

2009
Total longlived assets

2008
Total longlived assets

Revenue

Canada
United States and Mexico
Europe
Asia — Pacific and other

$

43,555
320,001
365,957
125,607

$

49,001
46,045
145,069
7,486

$

48,747
219,288
286,076
109,158

$

48,331
37,890
128,220
9,120

Total Company

$

855,120

$

247,601

$

663,269

$

223,561

Geographic segmentation of revenue is determined based on the customer’s installation site. Long-lived assets represent property, plant
and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets that are attributable to individual geographic segments, based on location of the respective
operations.
During the year ended March 31, 2009 and the year ended March 31, 2008, no segment had revenue from one customer which amounted
to 10% or more of total consolidated revenue.

20. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE:
During the year ended March 31, 2008, Photowatt International S.A.S., EDF ENR Reparties and CEA Valorisation entered into an agreement
to establish the PV Alliance, a joint venture. The joint venture became effective in October 2007 with contributions of cash by the venturers.
This is a jointly-controlled enterprise and accordingly, the Company proportionately consolidates its 40% share of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses in the consolidated financial statements.
The following is a summary of the Company’s proportionate share of the joint venture:
As at March 31
Balance Sheet
Current assets

2009

$

Property and equipment

2,482

2008

$

53

587
1

Intangible assets
Current liabilities

1,816
(3,230)

—
(328)

Long-term debt

(1,296)

—

Net assets

$

Years ended March 31
Statement of Operations
Net loss

(175)

$

2009

$

(968)

260
2008

$

(648)

During the year ended March 31, 2009, the PV Alliance established shareholder loans proportionately worth 2,628 Euro, to be received in
instalments until September 2009. The loans are repayable over five years, guaranteed by the signing of a Pledge Agreement, and bear
interest at the maximum fiscally deductible rate.
An operating lease was established during the year ended March 31, 2009 for a portion of the Photowatt International S.A.S. building used
by PV Alliance and will result in annual lease payments proportionately worth 83 Euro. The contract with the lessee expires in 2018 with an
option to terminate the lease in 2016. The lease contains an option to extend the lease for an additional nine years.

21. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT:
The Company’s capital management framework is designed to ensure the Company has adequate liquidity, financial resources and
borrowing capacity to allow financial flexibility and to provide an adequate return to shareholders. The Company defines capital as the
aggregate of shareholder’s equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income), bank indebtedness, long-term debt and
obligations under capital leases less cash and short-term investments.
The Company monitors capital using the ratio of total debt to equity. Total debt includes bank indebtedness, long-term debt and obligations
under capital leases as shown on the balance sheet. Equity includes all components of shareholders’ equity, less accumulated other
comprehensive income. This is unchanged from the previous period.
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21. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT: (cont’d):
The capital management criteria can be illustrated as follows:
As at March 31
Shareholder’s equity excluding AOCI
Long-term debt

2009
$

Obligations under capital leases

Debt to equity ratio

$

21,061

Bank indebtedness
Cash and short-term investments
Capital under management

552,953
14,635

2008

—

142
(154,253)
$

434,538
0.1:1

455,865
—
28,754
(56,785)

$

427,834
0.1:1

The Company is subject to externally imposed minimum capital requirements relating to bank credit facilities. The Company has exceeded
these minimum requirements during the year.
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Board of Directors
Neil D. Arnold Chairman of the Board (1, 2 & 3)
Mr. Arnold has over 35 years of experience in public company finance and general management. Most recently, he served as Executive Chairman of the Board
of Directors of WHX Corp., a public holding company for primary industrial businesses. He served as Group Finance Director of LucasVarity, PLC, a public
company providing components and systems to the global aerospace and automotive industries with revenues in excess of $7 billion. Prior to that, Mr. Arnold
was Chief Financial Officer of Varity Corporation (previously Massey-Ferguson Ltd.). He has served as a director of LucasVarity, and WHX Corp. Mr. Arnold
earned a B.A. in Engineering Science from Pembroke College, Oxford University and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (UK).
John K. Bell Director (2)
Mr. Bell is the President of Onbelay Investment Corporation, a private equity company with investments in Automotive, Telematics and Technology. Prior to that
he was CEO and owner of Polymer Technologies Inc. Previously, he was the founder of Shred-Tech Limited which he started in 1977 and sold in 1995. He
presently sits on the board of Newport Partners Income Fund (TSX) (Audit Committee Chair); BSM Technologies Inc. (TSX-V) (Chairman); Royal Canadian Mint,
and he is Chairman of Cambridge Memorial Hospital. Mr. Bell is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, a graduate of the University of
Western Ontario School of Business Administration (Ivey). Mr. Bell served as interim CEO of ATS from September to November 2007.
Anthony Caputo Director
Mr. Caputo is the Chief Executive Officer of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. As an experienced senior executive he brings a solid track record of over
25 years of delivering performance, growth and value creation in technology, manufacturing and service environments. Most recently Mr. Caputo served as
Corporate Vice-President, President and COO of L-3 Communications, and prior to that he was the President and CEO of Spar Aerospace. Mr. Caputo holds
a Bachelor of Technology in Engineering from Ryerson University and a Master of Science in Organizational Development from Pepperdine University.
Michael E. Martino Director (2 & 3)
Mr. Martino is a founder and a principal of Mason Capital Management, LLC. Mr. Martino began his investment career at Oppenheimer & Company where he
was responsible for risk arbitrage research; he ended his tenure at Oppenheimer as Executive Director, Risk Arbitrage. He began his business career at GE
Capital Corporation where he held positions in information systems and business analysis. He was formerly a director of Spar Aerospace Limited, a publiclytraded aerospace company. Mr. Martino graduated from Fairfield University with a degree in Political Science and earned a Masters in Business Administration
in Finance and International Business from New York University’s Stern School of Business.
Gordon Presher Director (1 & 3)
Mr. Presher is a uniquely qualified entrepreneur, possessing expertise in both the automation technology and solar industries. He is the co-founder, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of Solar Sentry Corp., a seed-stage developer of innovative monitoring equipment for the solar energy industry. Prior to Solar
Sentry, Mr. Presher was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Ormec Systems Corp., a factory automation firm specializing in precision motion control.
He began his career as a controls engineer at Eastman Kodak Co. Mr. Presher holds a Bachelor of Science in Physics and Math from Houghton College,
and a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from University of Rochester.
Neale X. Trangucci Director (1 & 2)
Mr. Trangucci has been an officer of Mason Capital Management, LLC since 2005. He has over 25 years of experience investing in and managing companies
in various stages of financial distress. Prior to joining Mason, he was Chief Executive Officer of WHX Corp. Prior to WHX, Mr. Trangucci worked for
NeubergerBerman, where he invested partners’ capital in public and private distressed securities. Prior to that, he spent eight years in workouts and
bankruptcies with Continental Illinois Bank and Salomon Brothers. He has been a director of WHX, Wheeling-Pittsburgh Steel Corp. and Wheeling-Nisshin, Inc.
Mr. Trangucci holds a Bachelor of Science from Bucknell University and a Masters in International Affairs and Finance and Banking from Columbia University.
Daryl C. F. Wilson Director (3)
Mr. Wilson is the President and CEO of Hydrogenics Inc., a Canadian public company and hydrogen technology provider. Prior to joining Hydrogenics he was
VP Manufacturing and Operations with Royal Group Technologies and Zenon Environmental Inc. Preceding that he served on the senior management team of
Toyota Motor Manufacturing Canada. Mr. Wilson has been National Chair of the Environmental Quality Committee of the CMA. Mr. Wilson holds an MBA in
Operations Management/Management Science from McMasterUniversity; a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of Toronto; and
has obtained a Chartered Director designation (C.C. Dir.).
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ATS is...
•

A world leader in automation solutions

•

A trusted provider to some of the world's largest companies

•

The owner of Photowatt France, an integrated solar manufacturer

•

A well-diversified business with strength in established and emerging markets

•

A company with a highly skilled workforce

•

A business founded more than 30 years ago

•

A company on a mission to create outstanding value for shareholders

www.atsautomation.com

